# CANADIAN THESES ON MICROFICHE

I.S.B.N.

## THESES CANADIENNES SUR MICROFICHE



National Library of Canada
Collections Development Branch

Canadian Theses on Microfiche Service

Ottawa, Canada K1A 0N4 Bibliothèque nationale du Canada Direction du développement des collections

Service des thèses canadiennes sur microfiche

### NOTICE

The quality of this microfiche is heavily dependent upon the quality of the original thesis submitted for microfilming. Every effort has been made to ensure the highest quality of reproduction possible.

If pages are missing, contact the university which granted the degree.

Some pages may have indistinct print especially if the original pages were typed with a poor typewriter ribbon or if the university sent us a poor photocopy.

Previously copyrighted materials (journal articles, published tests, etc.) are not filmed.

Reproduction in full or in part of this film is governed by the Canadian Copyright Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. C-30. Please read the authorization forms which accompany this thesis.

THIS DISSERTATION
HAS BEEN MICROFILMED
EXACTLY AS RECEIVED

#### **AVIS**

La qualité de cette microfiche dépend grandement de la qualité de la thèse soumise au microfilmage. Nous avons tout fait pour assurer une qualité supérieure de reproduction.

S'il manque des pages, veuillez communiquer avec l'université qui a conféré le grade.

La qualité d'impression de certaines pages peut laisser à désirer, surtout si les pages originales ont été dactylographiées à l'aide d'un ruban usé ou si l'université nous a fait parvenir une photocopie de mauvaise qualité.

Les documents qui font déjà l'objet d'un droit d'auteur (articles de revue, examens publiés, etc.) ne sont pas microfilmés.

La reproduction, même partielle, de ce microfilm est soumise à la Loi canadienne sur le droit d'auteur, SRC 1970, c. C-30. Veuillez prendre connaissance des formules d'autorisation qui accompagnent cette thèse.

LA THÈSE A ÉTÉ MICROFILMÉE TELLE QUE NOUS L'AVONS REÇUE

National-Library of Canada

Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Canadian Theses Division

Division des thèses canadiennes

Ottawa, Canada **K1A 0N4** 

63824

# ERMISSION TO MICROFILM.

•	Please print or type — E	crire en lettres moulées	ou dactylographier

Full Name of Author - Nom-complet de l'auteur

MARG ARET

PROWSE

Date of Birth - Date de naissance

17

Country of Birth - Lieu de naissance

CANADA

Permanent Address - Résidence fixe

2A - 8415

August

112 7

EDMONTON ,

TEG ZCS

Title of Thesis - Titre de la thèse

EXPLORATORY

Jniversity - Université

UNIVERSITY ALBERTA

Degree for which thesis was presented — Grade pour lequel cette thèse fut présentée

MASTER, OF NURSING

rear this degree conferred — Année d'obtention de ce grade

1983

Name of Supervisor - Nom du directeur de thèse

DR. SHIRLEY STINSON

Permission is hereby granted to the NATIONAL LIBRARY OF CANADA to microfilm this thesis and to lend or sell copies of he film.

he author reserves other publication rights, and neither the hesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or othervise reproduced without the author's written permission.

L'autorisation est, par la présente, accordée à la BIBLIOTHÈ-QUE NATIONALE DU CANADA de microfilmer cette thèse et de prêter ou de vendre des exemplaires du film.

L'auteur se réserve les autres droits de publication; ni la thèse ni de longs extraits de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans l'autorisation écrite de l'auteur.

APRIL 1483 Signature

margaret D. Prove.

## THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

NEEDS OF FAMILY MEMBERS OF ICU PATIENTS AS PERCEIVED
BY FAMILY MEMBERS AND ICU NURSES: AN EXPLORATORY STUDY

by

MARGARET DORIS PROWSE

### A THESIS

SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH
IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE
OF MASTER OF NURSING

FACULTY OF NURSING

EDMONTON, ALBERTA

SPRING, 1983

### THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

## RELEASE FORM

NAME OF AUTHOR	MARGARET DORIS PRO	WSE	
TITLE OF THESIS .	NEEDS OF FAMILY ME	MBERS OF ICU PATIENTS AS	
	PERCEIVED BY FAMIL	Y MEMBERS AND ICU NURSES:	
•	AN EXPLORATORY STU	DY	
DEGREE FOR WHICH	THESIS WAS PRESENTED	Master of Nursing	
YEAR THIS DEGREE (	GRANTED 1983	•••••••••	

Permission is hereby granted to THE UNIVERSITY OF
ALBERTA LIBRARY to reproduce single copies of this
thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private,
scholarly or scientific research purposes only.

The author reserves other publication rights, and neither the thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's written permission.

(Signed) . Margaret. D. Provide

PERMANENT ADDRESS:

2A-8905 - 112 Street

EDMONTON, Alberta

T6G 2C5

DATED ... april ..... 1983.

THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research, for acceptance, a thesis entitled NEEDS OF FAMILY MEMBERS OF ICU PATIENTS AS PERCEIVED BY FAMILY MEMBERS AND ICU NURSES: AN EXPLORATORY STUDY submitted by MARGARET DORIS PROWSE in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Nursing.

> Mily them Supervisor ·

To My Parents,

for their guidance, encouragement and love.

#### **ABSTRACT**

This study was conducted 1) to determine the relative importance of selected needs of family members as they are perceived by family members and ICU nurses; 2) to determine whether these needs are being met according to family members and ICU nurses; and 3) to determine the extent of agreement between family members' and nurses' perceptions regarding nursing's responsibilities and family members' needs.

Respondents were 40 family members and 31 nurses from the intensive care unit of a large metropolitan teaching hospital. Data were collected from family members following the patient's transfer out of the intensive care unit, using a questionnaire consisting of need items representative of those commonly experienced by family members. Data were analyzed using frequencies and cross-tabulations, Kendall's Tau, and factor analysis.

Results revealed that the needs considered most important by family members related to receiving honest, understandable information about the patient's treatment and prognosis, and knowing that hospital personnel cared about the patient. It appeared that for the majority of family members, these/needs had been met.

Responses from nurses demonstrated a general agreement with family members regarding the importance of needs. However, there was disagreement regarding the responsibility of nursing to meet some of the family members' needs. In contrast to the LCU nurses, family members did not feel it was a responsibility of nursing to meet the need to discuss their feelings, or to be concerned about their health.

rector analysis identified five components of family members' needs; needs related to information about the patient's treatment and prognosis; needs related to supportive people; needs regarding patient visiting; needs regarding information about the intensive care environment; and needs pertaining to the physical surroundings in the hospital.

Additional research is recommended to determine the reliability and validity of the results and explore further the role of nursing and nurses in meeting the needs of family members of ICU patients.

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Appreciation is expressed to the Chairman of my thesis committee, Dr. Shirley Stinton, for her guidance in this investigation and for her interest throughout my graduate studies. I also sincerely thank the other members of my thesis committee, Dr. Kyung Bay and Dr. Helen Simmons for their suggestions and interest in this study.

few years. I am especially grateful to Kathy and Karen for their friendship and understanding. A special thanks is due to Bill for his support and encouragement, particularly in the latter stages of the study.

I am also grateful for the friendship of my classmates, Judy and Kathy, and of other fellow students in the graduate nursing program.

Thanks go to the family members and ICU nurses who made this study possible, and to Lee for her skillful typing of this thesis.

Finally, I gratefully acknowledge receipt of a Graduate Scholarship from the Province of Alberta during the second year of my studies.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

		PAGE
ABSTRACT		. 🗸
ACKNOWLE	DGEMENTS	vII
TABLE OF	CONTENTS	vIII
LIST OF	TABLES	хLI
CHAPTER		
	INTRODUCTION	1
	Background to the Problem	1
•	Need for the Study	3
	Objectives of the Study	. 3
	Definition of Terms	4
	Assumptions and Limitations	5
	Overview of the Thesis	6
11	THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK	7
	Medical Model of Crisis	8
	A Nursing Model of Crisis	11
111	REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	15
*	Impact of Illness and Hospitalization	15
	Nurse-Family Interaction in the Intensive Care Unit	18
	Supportive Measures for Family Members	21
	Needs of Family Members of ICU Patients	24
	Summary	28

# TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

CHAPTER		PAGE
IV	METHODOLOGY	30
	Research Design	30
, t	Study Samples	30
	Family Members	, 30
	ICU Nurses	31
	Setting	32
	Data Collection Procedure	32
	Research Instrument	33
	Reliability and Validity	35
	Ethical Considerations	36
•	Data Analysis	37
V	RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	39
	Characteristics of the Family Member Sample	39
	Characteristics of the Nurse Sample	41
	Family Members Responses	41
	Importance of the Needs	41
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Needs Met	45
	Who Met the Needs	48
	Responsibility of Nursing to Meet the Needs	52
	Additional Needs Identified	53
	Nurses' Responses and Comparisons with Those of Family Members	54
	Importance of the Needs	54

# TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

CHAPTER		PAGE
<b>v</b> .	RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	·
	Nurses' Responses and Comparisons with Those of Family Hembers	
	Needs Met	55
٠	Responsibility of Mursing to Meet the Needs	59
*	Additional Needs	64
,	Factor Analysis	70
	Factor I: Information Regarding Patient Treatment and Prognosis	71
	Factor II: Supportive People	. 74
	Factor III: Information Related to Inten- sive Care Environment	75
	Factor IV: Patient Visiting	76
	Factor V: Physical Surroundings in Hospital	77
	Correlation Among the Factors	78
	Mean Factor Score Differences: Family Members	78
	Mean Factor Score Differences: ICU Nurses	82
	Summary of Factor Analysis Results	82
	Interpretation of Major Findings in Light of Crisis Frameworks	84
11	SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS, IMPLICATIONS FOR NURSING AND RECOMMENDATIONS	87
	Summary	87
	Conclusions	90
	Implications for Nursing	91

### TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

CHAPTER	in the second	•	*					7	PAGE
VI	RECOMME	, CONCLU				• 4.			
	Reco	mmendet	ons			••••		••••	કેડ
SELECTED	REFERENC	ES	•••••		•••	••••	*****		**
APPENDIX		ERS OF P						••••	103
APPENDIX	B: RESE	ARCH QUE	STIONNA	IRES		• • • •		••••	109
APPENDIX	C: TABL	.ES		••••	· • • • •			s.	-118

# LIST OF TABLES

TABLE	DESCRIPTION	PAGE
1	Characteristics of Family Member Sample	40
2 ,	Characteristics of Nurse Sample	42
3	Ten Most important Needs as Perceived by Family Members	44
<b>4</b>	Ten Least Important Needs as Perceived by Family Members	46
5	Kendall's Tau for Ranked Importance of Needs Between Family Member Groups	47
6	Frequency of Responses from Family Members Indicating Need Met	49
7	Nurses	56
8	Ten Least Important Needs as Perceived by ICU Nurses	57
9	Kendall's Tau for Ranked Importance of Needs Between Nurse Groups	58
10	Frequency of Responses from ICU Nurses Indicating Need Met	60
11	Frequency of Responses Indicating a Responsibility of Nursing to Meet Need	65
12	Family Member Responses: Five Factor Solution Oblique Primary Factor Structure Matrix	. 72
13	Nurse Responses: Five Factor SolutionOblique Primary Factor Structure Matrix	73
14	Factor Analysis: Family Member Responses Correlation Among Oblique Primary Factors	79
15	Factor Analysis: Nurse ResponsesCorrelation Among Oblique Primary Factors	80
16	Oneway Analysis of Variance on Family Member Data Factor III: Information Regarding Intensive Care Environment	81

# LIST OF TABLES

ABLE	DESCRIPTION	PAGE
17	Oneway Analysis of Variance on Family Member Data Factor V: Physical Surroundings in Hospital	83
18	Ranking of Needs from Most Important to Least Important by Frequency of Responses from Family Members	119
19	Ranking of Needs from Most important to Least Important by Frequency of Responses from ICU Nurses	124
20	Frequency of Responses from Family Members in Relation to Who Met the Needs	128

#### INTRODUCTION

The essence of man is in the experience of his relation to other human beings and to the cosmos (Dubos, 1968, p. 115).

## Background to the Problem

It has long been recognized that the individual cannot be completely understood in isolation from his family and other social networks of which he is an integral part. According to Ackerman (1958), "None of us lives his life alone. While some aspects of life experience are, to be sure, more individual than social and others more social than individual, life is nonetheless a shared and a sharing experience." (p. 15).

The critical illness of a patient is not an isolated event, but rather has an appreciable impact on those who play an important role in the patient's life. The members of one's family influence and are influenced by the patient's illness (Pinneo, 1979; Gillis, 1981). Indeed, hospitalization for acute serious illness is frequently viewed as constituting a crisis situation for the family (Brose, 1973; Caplan, 1964; Rapaport, 1962; Speedling, 1980).

Although families have a tremendous influence upon patient's immediate and long term recovery (Anthony, 1970; Beaudry, 1968; New, 1968; Tolsdorf, 1976; Williams & Rice, 1977), the focus of care in our present health care system remains on the individual (Forsyth, 1982). Wilson (as quoted in Beckingham, 1976), bears out this observation in the following statement:

Families are extraneous to the power structure of the hospital which is conceived of as fully capable of curing the individual without his relatives. The patient is amputated from his family for precise diagnosis and care. In the creative process of recovery, relatives are spectators, receivers of good news or bad news, until the day of discharge when quite suddenly the patient is theirs again (p. 25).

Within the intensive care unit (ICU), the first priority of attention is necessarily the patient who is in a physiological crisis. However, the patient's family members frequently remain on the periphery and little attention is given to their needs (Gardner & Stewart, 1978; Holub, Eklund & Keenan, 1975). Speedling (1980) asserts, "There remains a paradox of superhuman efforts for the patient on the one hand, and on the other, neglect of his primary support system for maintaining in the present and the future, the heroic achievements of ICU care "(p. 20).

The fear and anxiety exhibited by family members of patients in intensive care units have been acknowledged by numerous authors (Doerr & Jones, 1979; Epperson, 1977; Potter, 1979; Williams & Rice, 1977; Wilson, 1975). In addition to the stress of the potential loss of the patient through death, the intensive care environment, by virtue of its specialized equipment, is often seen as a foreign and threatening milieu (Potter, 1979). Heightening the family members' anxiety are the long hours spent in waiting rooms between visits to the patient.

The concept of comprehensive critical care encompasses not only the care of the patient but also the supportive care of the family (Roberts, 1976; Simon & Poelker, 1980). Nurse-family inter-



actions occur' during the family members' visits and it is often difficult in these brief contacts to evaluate each family's situation (Gardner & Stewart, 1978). Thus, interventions are often based on commonly experienced needs of family members as they are perceived by the staff (Molter, 1976). If the overall focus of importance of family members' needs is not congruent between family members and ICU staff, counterproductive interventions could logically result.

(A)

## Need for the Study

Research on family members' needs has recently been undertaken by several investigators (Blichfeldt, 1979; Brew & Dracup, 1978; Gillis, 1981; Molter, 1976, 1979; Rasie, 1980). However, to the knowledge of this investigator, there have been no studies which have compared family members' and ICU nurses' perceptions of family members' needs. In this regard, the present study is unique. The exploration of this relationship may identify gaps and incongruencies between the perceptions of needs by family members and ICU nurses, the knowledge of which would be useful in planning future interventions to assist families in coping with the critical illness of a family member.

# Objectives of the Study

The overall objective in this study was to determine the relative importance of selected needs of family members of ICU patients as perceived by family members and ICU nurses. Specific research objectives were the following:

to determine the relative importance of selected needs
 of family members of ICU patients as perceived by family

- to determine whether or not, and by whom, family members perceive these needs are being met;
- 3) to determine the relative importance of selected needs of family members of ICU patients as perceived by ICU nurses;
- 4) to determine whether or not ICU nurses perceive these needs are generally met;
- 5) to determine the ways and the extent to which family members' perceptions of their needs differ from ICU nurses' perceptions of those needs;
- 6) to determine the extent to which family members' perceptions of nursing's responsibility to meet their needs differ from ICU nurses' perceptions of nursing's responsibility to meet these needs; and
- 7) to examine the utility of the medical model of crisis and Narayan and Joshin's model of crisis in interpreting the findings of this study.

### Definition of Terms

The following are definitions of terms as they are used in this study.

NEED: A lack of something wanted or required by an individual.

ICU PATIENTS: Patients, eighteen years of age or older, who have spent between three and thirty days in the intensive care unit following unanticipated admission resulting from trauma or other medical and/or surgical problems.

FAMILY MEMBERS: Persons, eighteen years of age or older, related to the patient or living with the patient and who visited the patient three or more times while the patient was in the intensive care unit.

ICU NURSES: Registered nurses who are nursing full time or parttime in an area of the hospital providing specialized facilities and monitoring equipment for patients requiring continuous observation and intervention.

## Assumptions and Limitations

The major assumption often underlying studies on families of ICU patients is that serious illness resulting in admission to an ICU creates a crisis situation for family members such that the usual patterns of coping are inadequate for adaptive behavior and external intervention is required before further adjustment can take place. While it may be argued that not all family members are in a state of crisis as it is defined above, it is assumed in this study that family members are in a crisis state by virtue of the uncertainty of the patient's prognosis and their unfamiliarity with the intensive care environment which makes intervention by health professionals essential.

The research instrument used in this study was derived from an instrument developed by Molter (1976, 1979). Content validity was established in Molter's study and factor analysis was carried out in the present study as an indicator of construct validity. Attempts to establish reliability of the instrument were not undertaken in the present study.

The sample of family members was drawn from a population of family members whose relative/housemate was in the recuperative stage of illness following transfer from the intensive care unit.

Additional limitations of this study include the relatively small sample sizes and the convenience sampling technique used. Results are thus not generalizable beyond the study population. The findings of this investigation are considered in light of these stated assumptions and limitations.

## Overview of the Thesis

In this introductory chapter the problem and need for the study, the study objectives, definition of terms, assumptions and limitations have been stated. Chapter II outlines crisis frameworks as they have been applied to family members of ICU patients. In Chapter III, other literature relevant to this investigation is reviewed. Chapter IV contains a detailed description of the research design and methodology and in Chapter V the findings are presented and discussed. In the final chapter, a summary of the study is given and recommendations for further research arising from this investigation are made.

### CHAPTER 11

#### THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK

Several theoretical frameworks are considered relevant to the present topic. However, no single framework was found which would adequately provide a basis for interpreting the needs experienced by family members of patients in intensive care units. In this chapter, an overview of the medical model of crisis (Caplan, 1964; Parad, 1965; Rapaport, 1962; and others) and a nursing model of crisis (Narayan & Joslin, 1980) is given with particular reference to their application to ICU patients' families.

In previous studies related to needs of family members of patients in ICU (Breu & Dracup, 1978; Dracup & Breu, 1978; Gillis, 1981; Molter, 1976, 1979), various frameworks have been used. As Breu and Dracup (1978; Dracup & Breu, 1978) dealt exclusively with spouses of coronary care unit patients having extremely grave prognoses, the framework of anticipatory grief (Lindemann, 1944) was utilized in those two studies. Gillis (1981) developed a conceptual model for her study of family members' needs during the critical illness of a relative. However, limitations of that model became apparent at the interpretation stage in that the needs outlined in her model were not sufficiently discriminant and difficulties arose in her attempts to categorize the needs experienced by family members. Gillis concluded that several modifications in the model were necessary. Williamson (1978) draws attention to both the conceptual and methodological problems inherent in exploring the concept of "needs". The most problematic of these is the interaction between physical

and emotional components of needs thus influencing the reliability of need categories.

Molter (1976, 1979) incorporated both a medical model of crisis (Caplan, 1964; Parad, 1965; Rapaport, 1962; and others) and a psychological model, Maslow's hierarchy of needs (1970), in her study of relatives' needs during critical illness. In both Molter's (1976, 1979) and Gillis' (1981) studies the underlying assumption was that critical illness with subsequent admission to an intensive care unit disrupts the usual functioning of the family members such that previously learned patterns of coping are inadequate for adaptive behavior and a crisis often results for the family members.

Although it may be argued that all family members are not necessarily in a "crisis", a crisis framework would seem to be at the present time the best model to utilize in attempting to interpret the needs experienced by family members of ICU patients. For this reason, a medical model of crisis (Caplan, 1964; Parad, 1965; Rapaport, 1962; and others) as well as a nursing model of crisis (Narayan & Joslin, 1980) were selected to be used in this study and are described below.

## Medical Model of Crisis

Numerous writers, including Lindemann (1944), Caplan (1964), Parad (1965) and Rapaport (1962) have contributed to the development of crisis theory based upon the physiological principle of homeostasis applied to psychological functioning. Homeostasis is defined by the need to preserve stable chemical or electrolyte balances within the

body to sustain life. When these balances are upset, self-regulatory mechanisms are triggered that help to return these balances to healthy levels for the individual. According to the medical model crisis theorists there also exists a relatively consistent balance between cognitive and affective experience for each individual. The primary characteristic of this balance is its stability for that particular individual, a stability which becomes a frame of reference against which to evaluate changes in psychological functioning.

In every day life, experiences are encountered in which homeostatic equilibrium is disrupted and a negative effect results.

Caplan (1964) defines these experiences as "emotionally hazardous situations". The rise in stress resulting from emotionally hazardous situations motivates the individual to use coping mechanisms and problem-solving behaviors that help him to reestablish homeostatic balance. Coping mechanisms, which encompass a wide range of behaviors, are defined here as:

Those maneuvers used by individuals to reduce, to control, or to avoid unpleasant emotions in order to reestablish a state of homeostatic balance and facilitate return to normal functioning for that person (Baldwin, 1981, p. 25).

According to this theory, when an individual experiences an emotionally hazardous situation and if he is unable to effectively utilize previously learned coping behaviors, then an emotional crisis is likely to ensue. In Caplan's words, an emotional crisis is evoked when the "usual homeostatic, direct problem-solving mechanisms do not work, and the problem is such that other methods which might be used

to sidestep it also cannot be used" (p. 39).

Further to this overview of the medical model of crisis, there are a number of corollaries to crisis theory which are summarized by Burgess and Baldwin (1981) and which are helpful in understanding the emotional crisis of family members during the critical illness of a patient. These basic corollaries are the following:

- Because each individual has a specific tolerance for stress, emotional crises have no direct relationship per se to psychopathology and may occur among the well-adjusted.
- 2) Emotional crises are self-limiting events in which crisis resolution, either adaptive or maladaptive, takes place within an average period of four to six weeks.
- 3) During a crisis state, the individual has enhanced capacity for cognitive and affective learning because of the vulnerability of this state and the motivation produced by emotional disequilibrium.
- 4) Adaptive crisis resolution is frequently a vehicle for resolving underlying conflicts which have in part determined the emotional crisis.
- , 5) A small external influence during a crisis state can produce disproportionate changes in a short period of time when compared to therapeutic changes which occur during non-crisis states.
- 6) Resolution of emotional crises is not necessarily determined by previous experience or character structure but rather is shaped by sociopsychological influences operating in the present.

- 7) Inherent in every emotional crisis is an actual or anticipated loss to the individual which must be reconciled as part of the crisis resolution process.
- 8) Every emotional crisis is an interpersonal event involving at least one significant other person who is represented in the crisis situation directly, indirectly, or symbolically.
- 9) Effective crisis resolution decreases the likelihood of future crises of a similar nature by increasing the individual's repertoire of available coping skills which can be used in such situations (Burgess & Baldwin, 1981, pp. 29-33).

The limitations of using a medical model to understand the concept of crisis have been outlined in the literature (Smith, 1978; Taplin, 1971). Narayan and Joslin (1980) proposed a nursing model of crisis which emphasizes the potential growth enhancement that crisis offers rather than the pathogenic quality often associated with the traditional medical model of crisis. An overview of their model of crisis is given below.

# A Nursing Model of Crisis

Narayan and Joslin (1980) view crisis in terms of health encompassed in the following points, which in this study are applied to the family members of ICU patients:

- 1) Health is more than the absence of disease or symptoms, and implies the unity of all aspects of the individual: mind, body and spirit.
- 2) Humans are open systems and subsystems of other systems such as the family. Within this open system the individual continually

strives toward greater complexity, order and self-differentiation.

- 3) One's attitudes, values, perceptions and beliefs affect one's health and can lead to alterations in one's health status.
- 4) Optimal health requires the allocation of various resources or supplies from within and without the individual.
- 5) Health can be conceived as existing on a continuum with the maximum state of health on one end and death on the other.
- 6) The focus of health and healing exists within the individual although the nurse can act as a catalyst or facilitator.
- 7) States of health that are not optimal can be opportunities for growth and learning if adequately utilized by the individual.

With respect to the concept of health as outlined above,
Narayan and Joslin (1980) define crisis as "a state of depleted health
potential" (p. 37). This state occurs when there is an "alteration
in the dynamic pattern of functioning whereby there is an inability
to interact with internal and external forces as the result of a
temporary or permanent loss of necessary resources" (Narayan & Joslin,
1980, p. 38). According to this model, throughout the life span an
individual will encounter obstacles to his life goals. These
obstacles may be in the form of precipitating events of a sudden,
unexpected nature or those that are of gradual onset but occur during
a period of developmental transition. The individual responds to the
obstacle by utilizing past knowledge and coping strategies. His
resources - both inner and outer sources of strength and support are mobilized to provide assistance in the situation. If these
attempts are inadequate the individual will begin to experience

increased anxiety and tension, and eventually, if the threat is not relieved or if the resources are insufficient to deal with the obstacle, disorganization and depletion of the individual's health will occur. At the peak of a crisis the individual is more sensitive to intervention or assistance (Aguilera & Messick, 1979; Caplan, 1964; Narayan & Joslin, 1980). In keeping with the notion that less than optimal health states can provide opportunities for growth and learning, one may view crisis as a potential turning point in the person's life.

Looking at the frameworks outlined above, one can see that there are differences in the basic premises regarding crisis and crisis resolution. While the traditional medical model of crisis focusses upon the individual's return to an equilibrium or "homeostasis", Narayan's and Joslin's model emphasizes the potential improvement in the individual's health state as a result of crisis. The question arises whether or not one can adequately utilize the crisis framework to understand the needs experienced by family members of ICU patients. If one defines crisis as it has been defined above, it could be argued that family members of ICU patients are not in a crisis. However, if one views crisis as a "state wherein an individual requires external intervention in order to effectively cope with the situation" (Simmons, 1982), then family members of ICU patients would be included in this definition. By virtue of their unfamiliarity with the intensive care unit and the patient's prognosis, family members rely on the intervention of health care workers to deal with the situation. Throughout this

study, crisis will be viewed as it has just been outlined above.

The utility of each of the crisis frameworks outlined above will be examined in Chapter V in interpreting the findings of the present study.

#### CHAPTER III

### REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

The purposes in presenting this literature review are to provide a brief overview of what has been written on the impact of illness and hospitalization upon the family, nurse-family interaction in intensive care environments, interventions intended to support patients' family members, and the needs identified by family members of ICU patients.

## Impact of Illness and Hospitalization Upon the Family

That illness or disability is a family matter, not just an individual affair, is supported by researchers and practitioners in the fields of nursing (Roberts, 1976; Simon & Poelker, 1980), rehabilitation (Bray, 1977; Weller & Miller, 1977), family crisis (Anthony, 1970; Caplan, 1964), medical sociology (Parsons & Fox, 1968) and mental health (Kaplan, Smith, Grobstein & Fischman, 1973; Olsen, 1970). Research on the effects of illness on the family has primarily focussed on three main areas: the family system, marital relationships, and the social situation of the family. Findings from these studies suggest that families experience personal, interpersonal, and extra-family difficulties during illness of a family member (Anthony, 1970; Malone, 1977). The impact of chronic illness and disability upon the family unit has been examined by numerous authors (Klein, Dean & Bogdonoff, 1967; Livsey, 1972; Mailick, 1979; Thompson, 1974, and others). However, until fairly recently, little attention has been paid to family

members of acutely ill patients.

The sudden incapacitation of a family member due to hospitalization can have a profound effect on the family and its members. Litman (1974) found that families experienced problems ranging from just "missing" the patient to severe disruptions in home activities and role alterations. Using the case study approach Berezowsky (1979) explored the reactions of families with dependent children to the occurrence of a sudden stroke in the working father. In the families studied, the father's illness led to a family crisis, which was defined as a situation wherein the family was forced to change its usual patterns of functioning in order to cope with its present situation.

Recently, several authors have drawn attention to the fear and anxiety exhibited by family members of acutely ill hospitalized patients (Doerr & Jones, 1979; Potter, 1979; Roberts, 1976; Simon & Poelker, 1980; Wilson, 1975). Skelton and Dominian (1973) explored the feelings, reactions and difficulties experienced by wives of first admission myocardial infarction patients. Findings in their study revealed that these spouses exhibited considerable distress due to the suddenness of the illness. They were left with a sense of loss due to the threat of death and had a tendency to feel guilty and blame themselves. In a more recent Canadian study, Samland (1980) interviewed 22 individuals who had significant others admitted to the emergency department, at 24 and 48 hours after admission, to determine their feelings about the situation and the background variables which influenced their response. High levels

of stress were present for all interviewed, and for 60 percent of these, the event was considered crisis-provoking. The findings also indicated that nurses were the most available resource for support but that they frequently did not accurately assess the subjects' perceptions of their concerns, feelings and behaviors as indicators of crisis states, and therefore may have responded ineffectively to support their needs.

Silva (1977), in interviews with 48 spouses of patients scheduled for major surgery, reported feelings of isolation, anxiety, timelessness and disruption in response to the impending surgery. These findings were also supported by Baudry and Wiener (1968) upon exploring relatives' response to impending surgery of a loved one. In each of these studies an open ended interview schedule was used.

The intensive care unit has been viewed by health professionals as a setting imposing increased stress upon family members (Jilling, 1980; Potter, 1979; Reichle, 1975). High noise levels, the presence of specialized equipment, the lack of clarity of explanations, short visitation periods, along with the patient's uncertain prognosis contribute to the heightened anxiety of family members. As compared to general wards, family members of ICU patients observe a greater number of medical emergencies and deaths among neighboring patients and spend long hours waiting between visits to the patient's bedside (Williams & Rice, 1977).

The above studies support the assertion that illness of a family member tends to disrupt the family's customary patterns of functioning. Sudden acute illness, particularly with subsequent

admission to an intensive care environment creates additional stress upon family members. It is in light of this that family members are considered to be in crisis requiring intervention on the part of health professionals.

## Nurse-Family Interaction in the Intensive Care Unit

It is apparent within the literature that family members constitute an important part of the patient's environment during the patient's ICU stay and that the interaction among patient, family members and nurse can be either a positive or negative factor in this environment. The value of effective nurse-family interactions is expressed by Gardner and Stewart (1978): "appropriate interactions with family members may lead to decreased anxiety, increased reassurance, better cooperation, improved rapport, and better patient care! (p. 105). Others (Jillings, 1981; Rasie, 1980; Roberts, 1976) have also drawn attention to the importance of effective nurse-family interaction in the intensive care environment. The literature indicates that, unfortunately, ICU nurses have frequently regarded families of ICU patients as sources of stress, an unwelcome hindrance, or an inconvenience (Frost, 1970; Michaels, 1971; Portman, 1974). Michaels' (1971) study revealed that, while ICU nurses say that they recognize family members as important and they wish to help them, they also frequently believe family members should be kept out of the ICU and they "invent" reasons to avoid interacting with family members. Although Michaels attributes this attitude to stress upon ICU nurses, Rosenthal (1980) attempts to explain the nurses' hesitancy to interact with family members in terms of control. She suggests that nurses

struggle for control over the patient's situation and see the family as interfering with that control.

Konrad (1973) studied the communication which took place during the first visiting period after patients' emergency admission to an intensive care unit and noted the tremendous anxiety of the family members. Visitors typically paused at the nursing station and yet did not speak to the nursing staff. From her observations, the author concluded that this initial exposure to the ICU setting did not allay fears and anxiety for the family members. Gardner and Stewart (1978) suggest that following the initial contact with the family members of patients in intensive care units, the degree of staff-family involvement depends upon factors such as staff workload, availability of staff and family members, and staff attitudes regarding visitation. Other significant factors reported by the authors were age, race, mood, appearance and behaviors of both staff and family members. However, none of these variables were systematically examined by the authors.

Several authors have highlighted the problem of familial isolation which may occur in intensive care environments. Speedling (1980), in a six month observational study, noted communication between patients, family members, physicians and nurses in an intensive care unit. The investigator observed that the first thing which occurred upon entry into the intensive care unit was the separation of the patient from his family, and the assignment of individuals needing help to passive, dependent roles. It was observed that much of what families learned about the nature of the care the patient was

receiving was conveyed by inference. As visiting time was brief, family members' perceptions of their relative's condition and the ICU were based upon patient-family interactions which may not have been representative of the situation. Because the families' interventions were often based on an understanding of the situation which the patients did not necessarily share, the net effect was to create a barrier between patients and family, making visits a source of stress for both patients and family members. Other studies (Minkley et al., 1979; Simon & Poelker, 1980) have also reported that families may have a negative effect upon patients rather than a positive one when they are not included in the patients' care plan.

The communication which takes place among families and significant others of ICU patients has also been discussed within the literature. The nursing literature in particular is replete with anecdotal accounts of ICU waiting rooms depicting the helplessness and boredom experienced by families during the long waiting periods (Cooper, 1976; Higgins, 1976; Mitchell, 1976; and others). However, despite the abundance of such discussion, little empirical research has been undertaken in this area. Dickson (1975) observed interpersonal interaction of relatives of ICU patients in one hospital waiting room. Although the sample size was small and nonparticipant observation time was limited, it was found that a great deal of support was sought in the waiting room from the relatives of other patients. An additional finding in this study was that either the need for accurate information was not being met by hospital personnel during staff-family interactions, or the "correct" information was being perceived inaccurately by the relatives.

The above studies illustrate the importance of effective interaction between family members and staff in the intensive care unit and have suggested that interaction is often brief with the family members relying upon other visitors to support their feelings and concerns. It is within this hospital environment that special needs arise for family members and interventions should be directed towards meeting these needs.

## Supportive Measures for Family Members

Supportive measures for family members which have been discussed within the literature include providing information and education, encouraging appropriate expression of feelings, improving physical aspects of the waiting environment and prescribing medications. The nursing literature on this topic centers on how nurses should talk to the families, why such communication is important, and the consequences for the patient if the family is not included in the care plan. Despite the abundance of much prescriptive writing, little empirical research has been done in this area.

Efforts to alleviate family members' anxiety through group intervention have been examined by a few authors. Holub, Eklund and Keenan (1975) explored the effects of regular family conferences as a way of meeting the needs of family members of coronary care patients. The main objective of the conferences was to provide a means by which information could be reinforced and corroborated. Family members indicated that they found the conferences helpful in relieving their anxiety and gain mutual support from other patients' relatives. These findings were also supported by Hoover (1979) who attempted to esta-

blish a program to meet the needs of relatives of patients with neurological injuries. Unfortunately, there are no data except the authors' opinions from either of the above studies to support the claim that such programs adequately identify and meet the needs of family members.

One area of support which has been more thoroughly addressed in the literature is the preparation of the family members for what they will see and hear in critical care. According to Wallace (1977), "there is a need to prepare relatives of patients in the intensive care unit beforehand for what they will encounter. As most people have never before set foot in such a specialized and mechanized area of the hospital, the equipment alone overwhelms them" (p. 33). Doerr and Jones (1979) examined the effect of preparation for visitation of twelve families on the state anxiety level of coronary patients and concluded that patients whose family members were prepared for the visitation showed a mean decrease of points on the state anxiety scale, while patients whose families were unprepared experienced a mean increase of state anxiety points.

Silva (1977) describes an orientation program she developed for spouses of patients undergoing surgery. It was found that spouses reported significantly less anxiety toward the surgery than those who were not given orientation information. The addition of a psychiatric nurse to the cardiac arrest team at one hospital is described by Ryan (1974). The role of the nurse in this situation was to remain with the family and be supportive of their feelings and concerns during the patient's medical crisis. Although various benefits of this program

were described by the author, the comprehensive effects of these kinds of programs are not established in the literature. As yet there remains limited empirical data to determine the extent to which supportive programs such as the ones cited above, identify and meet the needs of family members.

What do family members actually regard as supportive to them during the illness of a loved one? Some preliminary research toward answering this question has been undertaken. Freihofer and Felton (1976) gave a list of statements, each describing a nursing behavior, to 25 people who currently had a close family member or friend terminally ill in a hospital. These people were asked to rank the importance of the stated behaviors on a scale between 'helpful' and 'not helpful'. The behaviors identified as most important to the relatives and friends were the nurse's reassurance of the patient's physical comfort, and the nurse's openness to the family's expression of feelings. Although this study focussed upon the nurse's supportive behaviors as ranked by families and friends of terminally ill patients, one might expect some similarities to those behaviors identified by families and friends of patients who are acutely ill (e.g., support of the family's expression of feelings about the patient's situation). Irwin and Meier (1973) compared relatives' and health care professionals' perceptions of supportive measures used in working with relatives of oncology patients. The sample included 20 relatives and 20 health professionals. Using a Q-sort procedure, subjects rated the importance of honesty in dealing with the relatives, clear explanations, up-to-date information, patient

comfort, and interest in relatives' questions. Although relatively small samples were used, a comparison of the views of relatives and health care givers showed significant differences in how supportive behaviors were perceived. In a similar study Carey (1973) explored differences of views in relation to the value patients, nurses and physicians placed on having a chaplain available to patients at all times. Again, significant differences were found between health professionals and patients.

The above studies suggest that supportive measures are viewed differently by patients, family members and health professionals. In light of this, it may be suspected that differences may exist between the perceptions of family members' needs by family members and health professionals.

# Needs of Family Members of ICU Patients

It is only recently that research on the needs of family members of ICU patients has appeared within the literature. One of the earliest studies in nursing which explored relatives' needs was undertaken by Hampe (1975) who interviewed spouses of 27 terminally ill patients. Eight personal needs were identified by these spouses. These included: the need to be with the dying person; to be helpful to the dying person; to be assured of the dying person's comfort; to be informed of the mate's condition and impending death; to ventilate emotions; to have support of other family members; and to have acceptance and support from health professionals.

Although spouses believed that nurses had been helpful to their dying mates, emotional support from nurses was not

expected by the spouses themselves. In a more recent study, Greenley (1981) described patients' and significant others' perceptions of their needs during terminal illness. Many of the needs identified in Hampe's study were expressed by the significant others in this study. As the focus in both these studies was upon relatives and friends of terminally ill oncology patients, the question might be raised as to whether different needs might exist for family members of acutely ill patients.

In a study addressing that question, Dracup and Breu (1977, 1978; Breu & Dracup, 1978) explored the needs of spouses of acutely ill patients in a coronary care unit. The needs identified by these spouses were: need for relief of initial anxiety, for information, for support and ventilation of feelings, to be with the patient, and to be helpful to the patient. The degree of importance of needs of 40 relatives of critically ill patients in an intensive care unit was studied by Molter (1976, 1979). The most important needs identified by the relatives included feeling hope, having caring personnel treat the patient, being physically near the patient, and being kept informed of the patient's condition, and having information presented honestly and understandably. Although some needs appeared to vary in importance according to the variables of age and socioeconomic status, significant differences between responses given according to these variables were not demonstrated. The need unanimously identified as being important to the relatives was the need for hope. Interestingly, support for the relatives was of lowest priority to the relatives. Moreover, as was documented in Hampe's (1975) study, relatives viewed the nursing staff as being responsible only for the care of the

patient and not for his family. The majority of needs identified as important to relatives were perceived by the relatives as having been met consistently and most of the time were met by nurses. The needs described in Molter's study were also identified in interviews with relatives of 30 patients in an intensive care unit in Rasie's (1980) study and in a survey of families of 30 brain-injured patients (Mauss-Clum & Ryan, 1981). Using a semi-structured interview schedule, Blichfeldt (1979) interviewed 12 family members within 72 hours of patients' ICU admissions. All family members expressed the need to be informed of the patient's condition, to be with the patient, to be comfortable in the waiting room, and to have confidence in the health care givers.

In an exploratory study, Gillis (1981) studied the expressed needs of 51 family members of patients in several respiratory care units and the perceived importance of these needs according to the age of the family member and the age of the patient. 'Family member' was operationally defined as a "person, 18 years of age or older, related to the patient and who had visited the patient in the intensive care unit, or a significant other, 18 years of age or older, who expressed concern and caring for the patient and who visited the patient in the intensive care unit" (p. 17). As in Molter's study, results demonstrated that there was no significant relationship between the family members' rating of the importance of a need and the age of the family member or the age of the patient. In contrast to Hampe's (1975) study and Greenley's (1981) study, the above studies aimed at identifying the needs of family members of patients

in intensive care settings where there was a constant threat of death but also a reasonable possibility of recovery. In each of these studies, 'need' was generally defined as a felt requirement which, if met, would reduce immediate stress and assist the individual to cope with a changing environment (Gillis, 1981; Molter, 1976, 1979).

Research on family members' needs at various stages during an illness was conducted by Wilson (1975) who studied the observed and expressed nursing care needs of eleven families during three stages of a respiratory illness. With particular reference to the patients' stay in the intensive care unit, her data indicated the existence of family members' need for information regarding the patients' treatment and the disease process as well as the need for privacy and information pertaining to the physical layout of the hospital.

In contrast to some of the findings of previously-cited studies, Norbeck (1981) reported that demographic variables such as age, sex, education, socioeconomic status and marital status were associated with the amount of social support that was needed by a person during a stressful period and also how much support was available to the person. Finlayson (1976) found that wives of middle class coronary patients had more diverse sources of support than wives of working class patients who tended to be limited to support from their families of origin. It was also suggested by the author that the availability of social support may in turn influence family members' perceptions of their needs during a period of crisis (Finlayson, 1976). Apart from the study by Gillis (1981) in which the relationship between age and

investigations have specifically explored the relationship between other demographic variables such as age, sex and education, and the importance of needs as they are perceived by family members of ICU patients.

### Summary

Although only preliminary research efforts have been made regarding patients' families, a review of existing literature has revealed that sudden illness resulting in admission to an intensive care environment, can have a great impact upon the patients' family members.

patients in intensive care units appear to have special needs arising from the patients' uncertain prognoses as well as the family members' unfamiliarity with the intensive care environment. The following needs have been identified from a review of the literature as being important to family members of ICU patients: need for knowledge about the patients' condition and prognosis as well as about the equipment in the intensive care unit; need for information to be presented honestly and understandably; need for acceptance by hospital staff; need for support of feelings; need for participation in the patients' care; and need for physical comfort in the waiting room environment. Of the studies specifically exploring the needs of family members of ICU patients, only one was undertaken in Canada.

The literature indicates that interaction between ICU nurses and patients' families occurs during brief periods, and as a

result, interventions for family members tend to be directed toward meeting the needs commonly experienced by family members as they are perceived by the staff. It thus becomes important to determine the congruence between nurses' and family members' perceptions of their needs. Some of the studies indicated that family members did not expect nurses to meet their needs related to the support and discussion of their feelings (Hampe, 1975; Molter, 1976, 1979). One would question whether family members perceive the nurse's role to include meeting their needs, or only those of the patient.

A review of the literature thus has supported the relevance of exploring the needs of family members of ICU patients, with particular reference to the following research questions:

- 1) How do family members' perceptions of their needs differ from ICU nurses' perceptions of those needs?
- 2) How do family members' perceptions of nursing's responsibility to meet their needs differ from ICU nurses' perceptions of nursing's responsibility to meet these needs?

As suggested by Gillis (1981) further research is necessary to explore the needs of family members of ICU patients as they are perceived by family members and nurses and it is toward this end that the present study is directed. The methodology employed is outlined in the following chapter.

#### CHAPTER IV

#### METHODOLOGY

## Research Design

A descriptive survey research design involving two independent samples was used in this study to describe and compare family members' and ICU nurses' perceptions of the needs of family members of ICU patients. The samples and setting of the study, data collection procedures, research instrument, ethical considerations and the data analysis procedures are discussed in the following sections.

# Study Samples

## Family Members

The family members in the study were those of patients admitted to the Adult Multisystems Failure Intensive Care Unit at the University of Alberta Hospital between July and October 1982. Family member participants were initially identified by the researcher while the patient was in the intensive care unimpatilizing recommendations from the assistant charge nurses and information obtained in the unit admissions record and the patients' Kardex. The following criteria were used in the initial selection of patients whose family members were included in the study:

- 1) the patient was eighteen years of age or older; and
- 2) the patient had spent between three and thirty days in the ICU following unanticipated admission resulting from trauma or other medical and/or surgical conditions.
  The following criteria were established for inclusion of

family members in this study. Each family member:

- 1) was eighteen years of age or older;
- 2) was related to the patient or living with the patient;
- 3) had visited the patient three or more times while the patient was in the intensive care unit;
- 4) was able to read and understand English; and
- 5) had given written consent to participate in the study.

For ethical and methodological reasons, only family members of patients who were in the recuperative stage of illness and who were in stable condition following their transfer from the ICU were included in the study. Family members whose relative/housemate died in the ICU were excluded from the study not only because the family members would be experiencing emotional trauma as a result of the patient's death, but it was also believed that the bereavement process could alter their perceptions of their needs (Greenblatt, 1977; Lewis, 1963; Parkes, 1970). For similar reasons, members whose relative/housemate was transferred to a psychiatric ward or diagnosed as being terminally ill were also excluded from the study. A maximum of three family members per patient were included in the study.

#### ICU Nurses

All registered nurses who were nursing on a full-time or part-time basis in the Adult Multisystems Failure Intensive Care Unit at the University of Alberta Hospital and who had worked a minimum of three months in the unit were eligible to participate in the study. To ensure adequate exposure of the nurses to ICU families, part-time nurses included in the study were those who worked a minimum

of 24 hours per week in the intensive care unit. A staff list was obtained from the head nurse in the unit and a convenience sample of ICU nurses who agreed to participate in the study was acquired. In addition to the above criteria, all nurses included in the study gave written consent to participate.

## Setting

The hospital utilized in this study is a large metropolitan teaching hospital. The Adult Multisystems Failure Intensive Care Unit is a ten bed unit which contains specialized equipment for monitoring and supporting critically ill patients. At the time of this study there were no health professionals employed in the unit on a full-time basis to deal exclusively with the families of patients in the intensive care unit. Nursing personnel working in the ICU provided the main contact with patients' families. Hospital chaplains and social workers were also available to family members.

#### Data Collection Procedure

nurses in the ICU to initially identify patients whose family members were eligible for inclusion in the study. Within three days following the transfer of the patient to a ward, family members meeting the study criteria were contacted by the researcher in the following manner. The researcher went to the ward and introduced herself to the patient after seeking advice from the nursing staff regarding the patient's condition. Family members were often met on the ward during this initial contact with the patient. Some family members were contacted by phone to arrange a convenient time for them to meet with

explanation of the nature and purpose of the study was given and those agreeing to participate in the study signed a consent form.

(See Appendix A). Instructions for completion of the questionnaire were read to the family members and questionnaires were given to family members to be returned by mail in a stamped envelope addressed to the researcher.

Data were collected from the ICU nurses after the last patient whose family member(s) were included in the study was transferred out of the ICU. This delay in data collection from the nurses was done firstly to eliminate the possible influence of the nurses' questionnaire on interact with family members in this study. It was thought that seeing the needs listed might stimulate nurses to pay greater attention to needs. Secondly, although the primary focus of this study was on "general" needs of family members of ICU patients, the researcher was also interested in identifying what might seem to be "unique" needs. For example, the literature would indicate that feelings of anger in family members are common ways in which family members deal with those feelings may be "unique". Only by delaying the nurses' responses until all data had been collected from family members could the investigator be sure that the nurses' responses would be based not only on their general experience with families of ICU patients, but on their total experience with these particular families.

## Research Instrument

Following a review of the pertinent literature, the inves-

tigator selected a questionnaire developed by Molter (1976, 1979) to collect the required data in the present study. The questionnaire for family members (See Appendix B) consisted of 40 need statements with fixed-alternative answers. A four point Likert-type scale was used to measure the degree of importance of the needs experienced by family members. Each need was assessed by the family member as having been met or not been met. They were then asked to indicate who met the need and whether or not they felt it was a responsibility of nursing to meet the need. Space was provided (Question 41) for family members to add any needs which they experienced while their family member was in the intensive care unit but which were not included in the list of need statements. Demographic data such as age, sex, education, occupation, and relationship to the patient were collected for purposes of describing the sample on variables which are suggested by the literature as being relevant (Questions 43-46). Family members were also asked to indicate the approximate number of visits made to the patient while in the intensive care unit.

A questionnaire containing 40 similar need statements was given to the sample of ICU nurses (See Appendix B). The nurses were asked to rate the importance of the listed needs using a four point Likert-type scale and indicate whether or not they felt each of the needs was generally met. They were also asked to indicate whether they felt it was a responsibility of nursing to meet the needs listed. Space was provided (Question 41) for nurses to add any needs that, they felt family members of ICU patients experience but which were not included in the list of need statements. Background data

such as age, sex, nursing education and nursing experience were collected for purposes of describing the sample (Questions 42-47).

# Reliability and Validity

The questionnaire for family members was pretested by five family members who met the criteria previously outlined in order to assess the clarity of instructions and determine the length of time necessary to complete the questionnaire. These persons were not included in the sample of family members in this study. Minor revisions in the presentation of the questionnaire were made following this pretest. It was found that the questionnaire took approximately thirty minutes for completion.

The questionnaire for ICU nurses was submitted to five critical care nurses who have regular contact with patients' family members, to assess the clarity of instructions and determine the time needed to complete the questionnaire. These nurses were not included in the sample of ICU nurses. No revisions were made following this pretest and it was found that the questionnaire took approximately thirty minutes to complete.

Content validity of Molter's (1976, 1979) questionnaire was established in her study through an extensive review of the literature and by consultation with two clinical experts in critical care nursing. In Molter's study no additional needs were identified by the relatives, suggesting that the list of need statements appeared to be exhaustive. Identification of additional needs by family members was sought in this study through an open-ended question on the questionnaire. Comments of respondents to this question will be discussed

in Chapter V in the report of the findings. Factor analysis was carried out to construct validity of the instrument. Attempts to establish reliability of the questionnaire were not undertaken in the present study.

# Ethical Considerations

The research proposal was submitted to the University of Alberta Hospital Nursing Research and Scholarly Activities Committee and to the Special Services and Research Committee of the Hospital for ethical review. Suggestions made by the committees were incorporated into the research design and the project was approved.

The nature and purpose of the study were explained to family members by the researcher. (See Appendix A.) Care was taken to emphasize that participation or non-participation in the study had no bearing on the care that the patient was receiving or would receive in the future. Confidentiality of all information received and anonymity in its reporting was assured verbally and in writing. All family members participating in the study signed a consent form (See Appendix A). As the period during which time a patient is in the intensive care unit is considered highly stressful for family members, questionnaires were completed by family members following the patient's transfer from the intensive care unit, when patients were stable and in the recuperative stage of illness.

All nurses who participated in the study were informed of the voluntary nature of their participation and anonymity of responses was assured in writing. Nurses who agreed to participate in the study signed a consent form. (See Appendix A.) Participants were assured by the researcher that a report of the findings would be available to

them upon completion of the study.

# Data Analysis

Descriptive statistics were used to analyze the findings in relation to the previously outlined objectives.

With reference to the first objective, that of determining the degree of importance of the selected needs according to family members, the sum of rating values over all respondents was obtained for each need item and items were subsequently ranked in order of magnitude. Frequencies and percentage distributions were tabulated to determine whether or not family members felt their needs were met and by whom. Frequency and percentage distributions were also tabulated to determine nursing's responsibility to meet selected needs according to family members and ICU nurses. A similar procedure was carried out on data from the nurses.

Kendall's tau was utilized to measure the degree of relationship between the importance of need items and selected nurses' characteristics such as age, nursing education and nursing experience. Kendall's tau was also used to measure the degree of relationship between the importance of needs and selected demographic characteristics of family members.

Factor analysis was performed on the responses to the Likert-type scale items as a data reduction technique, and to identify the major factors or components of needs that were being measured.

Ratings on the Likert-type scale items were converted to five factor scores for both family members and nurses. Mean factor

variables such as age, sex, and socioeconomic class for family member respondents and the amount of nursing experience for nurse respondents. The reader is reminded of the non-experimental nature of the research design and non-random sampling technique used. Therefore probability interpretations arising from the analysis of variance procedures cannot be made. Further discussion of this is given along with the presentation of the research findings in the following chapter.

#### CHAPTER V

#### RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

in this chapter, the results of the study are presented and analyzed with regard to the research objectives outlined in Chapter I. Following a description of selected characteristics of the sample of family members and ICU nurses, the responses from family members are presented and discussed. Responses from the ICU nurses are then presented and compared to those of the family members. Finally, results of factor analysis on data obtained through the research questionnaire are discussed and interpreted in light of crisis models.

# Characteristics of the Family Member Sample

Forty family members who met the criteria previously outlined participated in the study. Slightly over half of these were female (57.8%). Twenty-two (55.0%) of the family members were spouses, four were parents, 8 were children, five were siblings, and one was a flancé. Of the 40 family members, 22 (55.0%) were over 35 years of age. Family members in the sample represented four socioeconomic classes, as estimated by the Two-Factor Index of Social Position (Hollingshead, 1957). The majority of family members (82.5%) were in classes III, IV and V which are largely representative of clerical workers, technicians and laborers. Eighty percent of the family members had made more than ten visits to the patient in the intensive care unit. A summary of the characteristics of the family member sample is presented in Table 1.

TABLE 1
CHARACTERISTICS OF FAMILY MEMBER SAMPLE (n=40)

Characteristic	Absolute Frequency	Relative Frequency (%)	Cumulative Frequency (%)
Age			
18-24 years	5	12.5	12.5
25-34 years	13	32.5	55.0
35-59 years	16	40.0	95.0
60+ years	. 6	15.0	100.0
Sex			
Male	17	43.0	43.0
Female	23	57.0	100.0
Socioeconomic Class	<u> </u>	٠	ě
Class II		15.0	15.0
Class III	<b>76</b> %	25.0	40.0
Class IV	NA A	35.0	75.0
Class V	New Street	25.0	100.0
Relationship to Pati	ent 8		
Spouse	22	∂ <b>55.0</b>	55.0
Parent	4	10.0	65.0
Child	8	20.0	85.0
Sibling	5	12.5	97.5
Fiancé	<b>.</b>	2.5	100.0
Number of Visits to	the Intensive Ca	re Unit	•
Five to Ten	8	20.0	20.0
Greater than Ten	32	80.0	100.0
**			

# Characteristics of the Nurse Sample

The sample consisted of thirty-one nurses who met the criteria for inclusion in the study. All of the nurses were female and 61.3% were between the ages of 25 and 34 years. Twenty-four (77.4%) of the nurses had a nursing diploma and seven (22.6%) possessed a degree. Experience in critical care nursing ranged from six months to eight years, with a median of 4 years. Overall experience in nursing ranged from 2 years to 15 years, with a median of 5 years. Of the 31 nurses, twenty-two (71.0%) were employed in the intensive care unit on a full-time basis. The remainder (29.0%) worked part-time in the intensive care unit. A summary of the characteristics of the nurse sample is presented in Table 2.

# Family Members' Responses

## Importance of the Needs

Four categories were used in assigning values to the importance of the needs. These were as follows:

Category	Category Value
Not important	1
Slightly important	2
Important	3
Very important	4

obtain a score on each need statement. A value of 2.5 was assigned to nonresponses in the calculation of scores. Based upon the resulting scores, the needs were ranked from most important to least

TABLE 2
SELECTED CHARACTERISTICS OF NURSE SAMPLE (n=31)

Characteristic	Absolute Frequency	Relative Frequency (%)	Cumulative Frequency (%)
Age			
18-24 years 25-34 years 35-59 years	7 . 19 . 5 .	22.6 61.3 16.1	22.6 83.9 100.0
Highest Level of Nurs	ing Education		
Nursing Diploma Nursing Degree	24 7	77.4 22.6	77.4 100.0
Experience in Critica	l Care Nursing		
Less than 2 years 2-5 years Greater than 5 year	3 23 5	9.6 74.2 16.2	9.6 83.8 100.0
Nursing Experience			
Less than 2 years 2-5 years Greater than 5 year	17 10	12.9 54.8 32.3	12.9 67.7 100.0
Employment Status			
Full-time Part+time	22 9	71.0 29.0	71.0 100.0

important. It is interesting to note that all the needs listed on the questionnaire were considered by at least one family member to be 'very important'. The ranking of needs from most important to least important by frequency of responses from family members is shown in Table 18, Appendix C.

The most important needs according to the family members are similar to those identified by relatives of critically ill patients in studies by Irwin and Meier (1973), Molter (1976, 1979) and Gillis (1981). Honesty in answering questions and a caring attitude toward family members rated important as did information concerning the patient's prognosis and treatment. The ten most important needs are listed in Table 3.

The need to feel that there is hope was considered to be very important to all forty family members. Ujhely (1963) asserts that the maintenance of a sense of hope is necessary in order that family members be able to deal with the uncertainty of the patient's prognosis.

The needs that were least important to the family members largely pertained to the physical environment of the hospital and to having someone concerned about their health. These findings are consistent with those of earlier cited studies (Breu & Dracup, 1978; Gillis, 1981; Hampe, 1975) and suggest that the focus of the family members attention is on the patient rather than on themselves.

One of the least important needs of family members in this study, as well as in the investigation by Irwin and Meier (1973) was the need to be abone. Family members indicated that while it was

#### TABLE 3

## TEN MOST IMPORTANT NEEDS AS PERCEIVED BY FAMILY MEMBERS

#### Rank

- 1. To feel that there is hope.
- 2. To know that they would be called at home if there were any changes in the patient's condition.
- 3. To have their questions answered honestly.
- 4. To know the patient's chances of becoming well.
- 5. To feel that hospital personnel care about the patient.
- 6. To have reassurance that the best possible care is being given to the patient.
- 7. To see the patient frequently.
- 8. To have specific facts concerning the patient's progress.
- To receive information about the patient's condition at least once a day.
- 10. To have explanations given in terms that they can understand.



important to have a <u>place</u> to be alone at the hospital, it was not important to be alone generally during the time that the patient was in the intensive care unit. Table 4 lists the ten least important needs according to the family members.

Kendall's tau was used to measure the degree of association between the ranked importance of the needs and family members grouped by age, sex and socioeconomic class. As Table 5 illustrates, there was a high degree of association in the ranked importance of needs between groups. The variables of age, sex and socioeconomic class thus did not appear to influence the relative importance of the needs for family members in this study.

### Needs Met

In relation to whether needs were met, the ten most important needs were considered by 34 (85%) of the family members to be met. Of the needs rated as 'important' or 'very important' by more than 50% of the family members, only three were assessed as not being met. These were:

- The need to talk to the doctor at least once a day. This need was assessed by only 20% of the family members as being met, while 95% of the family members considered it to be 'important' or 'very important'.
- 2. The need to have a place to be alone while in the hospital. This need was assessed by only 7.5% of the family members as being met, while 77.5% of the family members considered it 'important' or 'very important'.

## TABLE 4

## TEN LEAST IMPORTANT NEEDS AS PERCEIVED BY FAMILY MEMBERS

## Rank

- 31. To do some of the physical care for the patient.
- 32. To talk to the same nurses every day about the patient's condition.
- 33. To have another person with them while they visit the patient at the bedside.
- 34. To have a telephone nearby where they are waiting.
- 35. To have good food available to them while at the hospital.
- 36. To be alone.
- 37. To have a bathroom near the waiting room.
- 38. To be told about chaplain services.
- 39. To have someone concerned about their health.
- 40. To have someone encourage them to cry.

TABLE 5
KENDALL'S TAU FOR RANKED IMPORTANCE OF
NEEDS BETWEEN FAMILY MEMBER GROUPS

Age	18-24 years	25-34 years	35-59 years
25-34 years	0.7579		
35-59 years	0.8784	0.8490	
60+ years	0.7270	0.8406	0.8510
		~.	

sex	Male
Female	0.8542

11	ÍII	į
0.7555		
0.8741	0.7607	
0.7698	0.7656	0.8074
	0.7555	0.7555 0.8741 0.7607

3. The need to have comfortable furniture in the waiting room. This need was assessed by only 7.5% of the family members as being met, while 90.0% of the family members considered it to be 'important' or 'very important'.

Three other needs were considered by less than 50% of the family members to be met. They were:

- 1. The need to do some of the physical care for the patient.
- 2. The need to be alone.
- 3. The need to have someone encourage family members to cry.

  However, these needs ranked relatively low in importance

  overall, with less than 50% of the family members considering them

  to be 'important' or 'very important'. Table 6 shows the frequency

  of responses regarding whether needs were met.

#### Who Met the Needs

Thirty-one (77.5%) of the 40 family members indicated that nurses were involved in meeting their needs, 19 (47.5%) indicated that doctors met their needs and seven indicated that chaplains were involved in meeting their needs. Nurses were seen as meeting needs related to the support and reassurance of family members while doctors were seen as primarily meeting informational needs regarding the patient's treatment and prognosis.

It was anticipated that some needs would be met by resources other than hospital personnel. Nineteen (47.5) of family members indicated that other visitors met the need to have reassurance that the best possible care was being given to their family member. This finding would support observations by Reichle (1975) and Rasie

TABLE 6
FREQUENCY OF RESPONSES FROM FAMILY MEMBERS
INDICATING NEED MET (n=40)

	Need	Absolute Frequency	Relative Frequency <sup>a</sup> (%)
1	. To feel accepted by hospital personnel.	40	100.0
2	To have their questions answered honestly.	40	100.0
3.	To be able to visit whenever they want.	. 39	97.5
4.	To have a place to be alone while at the hospital.	3	7.5
5.	To be told about people in the hospital who could help them.	33	82.5
6.	To have a specific person at the hospital to call when they cannot be there.	38	95.0
7.	To be told about how their family member is going to be treated medically.	37	92.5
8.	To have a telephone nearby where they are waiting.	39	97.5
9.	To have good food easily available to them while at the hospital.	31	77.5
10.	To feel that hospital personnel care about their family member.	39	97.5
11.	To have the waiting-room near the family member.	38	95.0
12.	To be told exactly what is being done for their family member.	39	97.5
13.	To be alone.	11	27.5
14.	To be told about chaplain services.	23	57.5

TABLE 6 (Continued)

	<u>Need</u>	Absolute Frequency	Relative Frequency (%)
15.	To feel that there is hope.	<del>-</del> 40	100.0
16.	To know why things are being done for their family member.	39	97.5
17.	To be told about transfer plans when they are being made.	36	90.0
18.	To have someone explain the sounds and equipment in the intensive care unit before they visit for the first time.	28	70.0
19.	To have someone to talk to about the possibility that their family member might die.	32	80.0
20.	To talk to someone about their feelings.	29	72.5
21.	To have direction from the staff as to what is expected of them when they are at their family member's bedside.	35	87.5
22.	To know about the various types of staff taking care of their family member.	35	87.5
23.	To see their family member frequently.	39	97.5
24.	To have specific facts concerning their family member's progress.	35	87.5
25.	To be involved with the physical care of the family member.	13	32.5
26.	To have friends nearby for support.	32	80.0
27.	To talk to the doctor at least once a day.	8	20.0
28.	To have a bathroom near the waiting room.	37	92.5

TABLE 6 (Continued)

Need	Absolute Frequency	Relative Frequency (%)
29. To be reassured that it is all right to leave the hospital for a while.	38	95.0
<ol><li>To have explanations given in terms that they can understand.</li></ol>	39	97.5
31. To have reassurance that the best possible care is being given to their family member.	40	100.0
32. To know what type of staff can give them certain kinds of information.	35	87.5
33. To have comfortable furniture in the waiting room.	3	<u>7.5</u>
34. To have someone concerned about their health.	29	72.5
35. To know their family member's chances of becoming well.	34	85.0
36. To know that they would be called at home if there were any changes in their family member's condition.	36	90.0
37. To talk to the same nurses every day about their family member's condition.	11	27.5
38. To have someone to encourage them to cry.	4	10.0
39. To receive information about their family member's condition at least once a day.	35	87.5
40. To have another person with them while they visit their family member at the bedside.	23	57.5

aRelative frequencies are underlined where need was met for less than 50% of family members while more than 50% of family members considered it to be 'important' or 'very important'.

(1980) that visitors receive a great deal of mutual support during the long waiting periods between visits to the intensive care unit. The frequency of responses in relation to who met the needs is presented in Table 20, Appendix C.

## Responsibility of Nursing To Meet the Needs

An additional objective of this study was to determine family members' perceptions regarding the responsibility of nursing to meet their needs. Results indicated that the meeting of each need listed was considered by at least one family member to be a responsibility of nursing.

Family members indicated that it is a responsibility of nursing to meet informational needs pertaining to the intensive care environment and to the patient's general progress. Nurses may be viewed as providing interpretation of the unfamiliar ICU environment for family members, enabling a better understanding of the situation.

An unexpected finding was that only eight of the family members indicated that it was a responsibility of nursing to meet the need to talk to someone about their feelings. Similarly, only one family member considered it to be a responsibility of nursing to be concerned about their health. These findings support those of a study by Hampe (1975) where relatives felt that nursing staff were responsible only for the care of the patient, although concern for the relatives' health was appreciated.

## Additional Needs Identified

The content of responses to Question 41 regarding additional needs experienced by family members was categorized by the investigator. Eight (20%) of the family members responded to this question. Although most of the comments directly related to need items included in the questionnaire, additional needs were identified and are discussed below.

(1) <u>Physical Surroundings</u>: Six of the family members commented on the lack of privacy and the inadequacy of the waiting room facilities. Some of the responses were:

"The waiting room was situated so that patients had to be wheeled by you while waiting - I found this very disturbing."

"The sitting room needed to be bigger so that all visitors to intensive care could find a seat."

"I was appalled by the poor waiting room for visitors. It was small and always crowded. There were times when I just wanted to get away from there but there was no place else to wait."

(2) Emotional Support: Four of the family members indicated that emotional support was needed while the patient was in the intensive care unit. One spouse expressed that she needed to have more support in relation to her feelings of anger, as reflected in the following comment:

"I needed to be told that it was okay to feel the anger I was feeling over my husband's condition and that it was normal to feel that way."

(3) <u>Information Regarding the Patient</u>: Four of the family members commented that they needed to have more frequent information about the patient's progress. Frustration over not talking regularly with doctors was expressed by two of the family

members.

"Doctors should arrange to see families - we shouldn't have to try to catch them!"

"I was annoyed at not having the chance to talk to the doctors about my husband's condition. It seemed that they were always busy and didn't have time for me. I realize they were busy with other patients, but I would have liked to know more about what was going on at the time."

comments of the family members suggest that each of these needs, when unmet, serves to heighten anxiety and logically could lessen the family member's ability to cope with the situation. Although family members in Molter's (1976, 1979) study did not identify any further needs, additional needs were identified by family members in the present study, suggesting that needs listed on the question-naire were not exhaustive of those experienced by family members of ICU patients.

# Nurses' Responses and Comparisons with Those of Family Members Importance of the Needs

Each of the needs listed on the questionnaire was considered to be important by at least one nurse. Nurses' ranking of needs indicated that the needs important to family members were also considered important to nurses. Table 19, Appendix C, shows the frequency of responses regarding the importance of needs.

In relation to the ten needs which ranked most important to family members, nurses' responses were in agreement on 70% of these. It is interesting to note that the need to feel that there is hope ranked twelfth among nurses while it ranked first for the family members, and was unanimously considered to be very important. The need to discuss the possibility of death with others ranked among the

most important needs according to nurses, however, ranked only twentieth for family members. This could suggest that family members are not willing to face the possibility of the patient's death and wish to maintain hope during the period of uncertain prognosis. However, because family members in this study were those of recuperating patients, this need may not have been as important to them as to relatives of dying patients.

Needs ranking most important and least important are listed in Tables 7 and 8.

Kendall's tau was used to measure the degree of association between the importance of needs and nurses' age and length of nursing experience. As Table 9 demonstrates, there was a high degree of association between these variables, indicating that age or length of nursing experience did not appear to be associated with the relative importance of needs as perceived by nurses in the sample.

#### Needs Met

As was the case in family members' responses, responses from the ICU nurses indicated that the majority of needs were met according to more than 50% of the sample. Thirty-two of the needs were seen as being met. Fifty percent or more of the nurses indicated that eight of the needs listed were not generally met. These were:

- The need to have a specific person to call when family members could not be at the hospital.
- 2. The need to have a place to be alone at the hospital.
- 3. The need to be alone.
- 4. The need to do some of the physical care for the patient.
- 5. The need to talk to the doctor at least once a day.
- 6. The need to have comfortable furniture in the waiting room.

#### TABLE 7

## TEN MOST IMPORTANT NEEDS AS PERCEIVED BY ICU NURSES

#### Rank

- 1. To have their questions answered honestly.
- 2. To feel that hospital personnel care about patient.
- 3. To have explanations given in terms that they can understand.
- 4. To know that they would be called at home if there were any changes in the patient's condition.
- To talk to someone about the possibility that the patient might die.
- 6. To be told how the patient is going to be treated medically.
- 7. To know why things are being done for the patient.
- 8. To have reassurance that the best possible care is being given to the patient.
- To receive information about the patient's condition at least once a day.
- 10. To talk to someone about their feelings.



#### TABLE 8

#### TEN LEAST-IMPORTANT NEEDS AS PERCEIVED BY ICU NURSES

#### Rank

- 31. To have comfortable furniture in the waiting room.
- 32. To be able to visit whenever they want.
- 33. To have someone concerned about their health.
- 34. To have a bathroom near the waiting room.
- 35. To have someone encourage them to cry.
- 36. To have good food easily available to them while at the hospital.
- 37. To do some of the physical care for the patient.
- 38. To have a specific person at the hospital to call when they cannot be there.
- 39. To talk to the same nurses every day about the patient's condition.
- 40. To have another person with them while they visit the patient.

TABLE 9

KENDALL'S TAU FOR RANKED IMPORTANCE OF
NEEDS BETWEEN NURSE GROUPS

18-24 years	25-34 years
0.8184	
0.7249	0.7063
	r
<2 years	2-5 years
0.8351	
0.8042	0.7546
<2 years	2-5 years
0.8136	
0.7487	0.7912
	<pre>0.7249  &lt;2 years  0.8351  0.8042  &lt;2 years  0.8136</pre>

- 7. The need for someone to encourage family members to cry.
- 8. The need to have information about the patient's condition at least once a day.

Of these needs, three were considered by more than 50% of the nurses to be 'important' or 'very important': the need for family members to have a place to be alone at the hospital, the need to talk to the doctor daily, and the need to have daily information concerning the patient's condition. A summary of nurses' responses regarding whether the needs listed are generally met is presented in Table 10.

## Responsibility of Nursing to Meet the Needs

The responses of the ICU nurses to the question regarding nursing's responsibility to meet the listed needs were generally congruent with those given by family members. However, a few major differences are interesting to note. In relation to having a specific person at the hospital to call when they could not be there, 35 (87.5%) of the family members indicated that meeting this need was a responsibility of nursing. In comparison, only 12 (38.7%) of the nurse sample indicated that it was a responsibility of nursing to meet this need. Perhaps nurses perceive their role to act as a liason with family members only when the family members are present at the hospital. Constraints of time and workload may also limit the ability of the nurse in intensive care to meet this need.

In relation to meeting the need to be told how the patient is going to be treated medically, 30 (75.0%) of the family members

TABLE 10

FREQUENCY OF RESPONSES FROM ICU NURSES
INDICATING NEED MET (n=31)

	Need	Absolute Frequency	Relative a Frequency (%)
1.	To feel accepted by hospital personnel.	30	96.8
2.	To have their questions answered honestly.	25	80.6
3.	To be able to visit whenevery they want.	21	67.7
4.	To have a place to be alone while at the hospital.	0	0.0
5.	To be told about people in the hospital who could help them.	26	83.9
6	To have a specific person at the hospital to call when they cannot be there.	10	32.3
		<i></i>	04
7.	To be told about how their family member is going to be treated medically.	25	80.6
8.	To have a telephone nearby where they are waiting.	29	93.5
9.	To have good food easily available to them while at the hospital.	11	35.5
10.	To feel that hospital personnel care about their family member.	29	93.5
11.	To have the waiting room near the family member.	27	87.1
12.	To be told exactly what is being done for their family member.	23	74.2
13.	To be alone.	9	29.0
14.	To be told about chaplain services.	22	71.0
15.	%o feel that there is hope.	28	90.3
			A TO

# TABLE 10 (Continued)

	Need	Absolute Frequency	Relative <sup>a</sup> Frequency (%)
16.	To know why things are being done for their family member.	28	90.3
17.	To be told about transfer plans when they are being made.	26	83.9
18.	To have someone explain the sounds and equipment in the intensive care unit before they visit for the first time.	25	80.6
19.	To have someone to talk to about the possibility that their family member might die.	18	58.1
20.	To talk to someone about their feelings.	19	61.3
21.	To have direction from the staff as to what is expected of them when they are at their family member's bedside.	25	80.6
22.	To know about the various types of staff taking care of their family member.	29	93.5
23.	To see their family member frequently.	26	83.9
24.	To have specific facts concerning their family member's progress.	29	93.5
25.	To be involved with the physical care of the family member.	14	45:2
26.	To have friends nearby for support.	16	51.6
27.	To talk to the doctor at least once a day.	6	19.4
28.	To have a bathroom near the waiting room.	26	83.9
29.	To be reassured that it is all right to leave the hospital for a while.	29	93.5



TABLE 10 (Continued)

•	Need • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	Absolute Frequency	Relative <sup>a</sup> Frequency (%)
30.	To have explanations given in terms that they can understand.	22	93.5
31.	To have reassurance that the best possible care is being given to their family member.	29	93.5
32.	To know what type of staff can give them certain kinds of information.	23	74.2
33.	To have comfortable furniture in the waiting room.	8	25.8
34.	To have someone concerned about their health.	18	58.1
35.	To know their family member's chances of becoming well.	26	83.9
36.	To know that they would be called at home if there were any changes in their family member's condition.	29	93.5
37.	To talk to the same nurses every day about their family member's condition.	. 7	22.6
38.	To have someone to encourage them to cry.	11	35.5
39.	To receive information about their family member's condition at least once a day.	26	83.9
40.	To have another person with them while they visit their family member at the bedside.	19	61.3

aRelative frequencies are underlined where need is generally met according to less than 50% of ICU nurses while more than 50% of nurses consider it to be 'important' or 'very important'.

indicated it was a responsibility of nursing, in contrast to only 8 (25.8%) of the nurses. Nurses may feel that it is the physician's responsibility to discuss the patient's medical treatment with family members, and that they should only reinforce what has been said by the doctor.

Notable differences were observed regarding the responsibility of nursing to meet the need for family members to talk to someone about their feelings. Eight (20.0%) of the family members indicated that it was a responsibility of nursing to meet this need while 27 (87.1%) of the nurses indicated it was a responsibility of nursing. A contrast between family members' and nurses' responses was also observed in relation to the need to have someone encourage the family members to cry. Twenty-one (67.7%) of the nurses indicated that it was a responsibility of nursing to meet this need while only one of the family members indicated that it was a responsibility of nursing.

A final closely related finding pertains to the need to have someone concerned about the family members' own health. Eighteen (58.1%) of the nurses indicated that it was a responsibility of nursing to meet this need while only one of the family members indicated that it was a responsibility of nursing to meet this need. Although the emotional support needs were largely met by nurses according to family members, the above findings suggest that family members did not perceive ICU nurses to be in a role to provide emotional support for the patients' family members. Nurses on the other hand indicated that they have a responsibility to be supportive of family members' feelings. The difference between perceptions could logically interfere with nurses

Intervening in ways that would be most beneficial to family members.

Table 11 presents the frequency of responses of family members and

ICU nurses regarding nursing's responsibility to meet the needs.

#### Additional Needs

As in the responses from family members, the content of nurses' responses regarding additional needs experienced by family members (Question 41) was categorized by the investigator. Six of the nurses responded to this question. Their comments are discussed below under two major categories.

(1) <u>Physical Surroundings</u>: Five of the nurses commented about family members having a private place where they could be alone while at the hospital and expressed dissatisfaction with existing facilities. Some of the comments appear below:

"I think the waiting area available for families is terrible, because there is no privacy and it is in full view of patients going to and from the unit which may be upsetting."

"We need a quiet room or place to take family members aside to discuss things with them where no interruptions will occur."

(2) <u>Emotional Support</u>: Four of the nurses commented that family members need emotional support from staff in order to effectively cope with their situation. The nurses' comments reflect that they were aware of family members' need for emotional support but at the same time felt that they were not able to spend enough time with family members to adequately meet this need.

"I think families need to be told they're coping well, or giving good support, to increase their

TABLE 11
FREQUENCY OF RESPONSES INDICATING A RESPONSIBILITY
OF NURSING TO MEET NEED

	Family	Members	ICU Nurses		
Need	Absolute Frequency	Relative Frequency (%)	Absolute Frequency	Relative Frequency (%)	
1. To feel accepted by hospital personnel.	39	97.5	31	100.0	
<ol><li>To have their questions answered honestly.</li></ol>	38	95.0	25	80.6	
<ol><li>To be able to visit whenever they want.</li></ol>	27	67.5	28	90.3	
4. To have a place to be alone while at the hospital.	<b>\1</b>	2.5	4	12.9	
<ol><li>To be told about people in the hos- pital who could help them.</li></ol>	35	87.5	25	30.6	
<ol> <li>To have a specific person at the hos- pital to call when they cannot be there.</li> </ol>	35 -	87.3	12	38.7	
<ol> <li>To be told about how their family member is going to be treated medi- cally.</li> </ol>	30	75.0	<b>8</b>	25.8	
8. To have a telephone nearby where they are waiting.	2	5.0	5	16.1	
<ol> <li>To have good food easily available to them while at the hospital.</li> </ol>	1 ,	2.5	2	6.5	
			,		

TABLE 11 (Continued)

	Family	Members	ICU Nurses		
Need	Absolute Frequency	Relative Frequency (%)	Absolute Frequency	Relative Frequency (%)	
10. To feel that hos- pital personnel care about their family member.	38	95.0	31	100.0	
<ol> <li>To have the waiting room near the family member.</li> </ol>	ng 1	2.5	5	1 <b>6.1</b>	
12. To be told exactly what is being done for their family member.		95.0	18	58.1	
13. To be alone.	2	5.0	8	25.8	
14. To be told about chaplain services.	17	42.5	22	71.0	
15. To feel that there is hope.	38	95.0	26	83.9	
16. To know why things are being done for their family membe	• }	95.0	25	80.6	
17. To be told about transfer plans when they are being made.	39	97.5	29	93.5	
18. To have someone explain the sounds and equipment in the intensive care unit before they visit for the first time.	•	95.0	<b>3</b> 0	96.8	

TABLE 11 (Continued)

,		Family	Members	I CU Nu	rses
	Need	Absolute Frequency	Relative Frequency (%)	Absolute Frequency	Relative Frequency (%)
179.	To have someone to talk to about the possibility that their family member might die.	26	65.0	<b>25</b>	80.6
20.	To talk to someone about their feel-ings.	8	20.0	27	87.1
	To have direction from the staff as to what is expected of them when they are at their family members' bedside.	35	87.5	27	87.1
22.	To know about the various types of staff taking care of their family member.	37	92.5	28	90.3
23.	To see their family member frequently.	31	77.5	29	93.5
24.	To have specific facts concerning their family member's progress.	27	67.5	20	64.5
25.	To be involved with the physical care of the family member.	21	52.5	23	74.2
26.	To have friends nearby for support.	1	2.5	4	12.9
27.	To talk to the doctor at least once a day.	22	55.0	13	41.9

TABLE II (Continued)

17.	•				
	Famil	y Members	1CU Nurses		
Need	Absolute Frequency	Relative Frequency (%)	Absolute Frequency	Relative Frequency (%)	
28. To have a bashroom near the waiting room.	0	0.0	2	6.5	
29. To be reassured that it is all right to leave the hospital for a while.	34	85.0	30	96.8	
30. To have explanations given in terms that they can understand.	37	92.5	25	80.6	
31. To have reassurance that the best possible care is being given sto their family member.	31	77.5	28	90.3	
32. To know what type of staff can give them certain kinds of information.	38	95.0	26	83.9	
33. To have comfortable furniture in the waiting room.	10	2.5	5	16.1	
34. To have someone concerned about their health.	1	2.5	18	58.1	
35. To know their fam- ily member's	27	67.5	11	35.5	
chances of becoming well.					

TABLE 11 (Continued)

	Famil	y Members	ICU Nurses		
Need	Absolute Frequency	Relative Frequency (%)	- Absolute Frequency	Relative Frequency (%)	
36. To know that they would be called at home if there were any changes in their family member's condition.	40	100.0	28	90.3	
37. To talk to the same nurses every day about their family member's condition.	19	47.5	11	35.5	
38. To have someone to encourage them to cry.		2.5	21	67.7	
39. To receive information about their family member's condition at least once a day.	37	92.5	28	90.3	
40. To have another person with them while they visit their family member at the bedside.	6	15.0	10	32.3	

feelings of worthiness."

"I know that families need alot of support from us because of their fear and anxiety and I wish we had more time to spend with them. I think they need to have someone around who they can talk to at anytime because we're usually busy in the unit with the patient."

"What bothers me the most is that there is no one there to talk to the relatives between visits, especially when the patient is dying. They need to have a neutral person who will be there so they can express their feelings."

In contrast to responses from family members, no additional needs pertaining to information received by family members were identified by the nurses in the sample.

### Factor Analysis

Factor analysis was performed using 39 of the Likertscale items, as a data reduction technique and to identify the major categories of needs that were being measured. Item 15 (the need to feel that there is hope), was not included in the factor analytic procedures as there was no variation in responses on this item.

Initial orthogonal analysis identified twelve factors having eigenvalues greater than one and explaining 83.8% of the total variance in responses from family members. Items 13, 14, 34, 38 and 39 were eliminated from further analyses as they did not load highly on any of the factors and had low communality values. The remaining 34 items were used in a series of orthogonal and oblique analyses to find the most interpretable solution while still explaining a reasonable proportion of the total variance in responses. The best solution in light of the preceding criteria was a five

of the variance in family members' responses. Table 12 shows the five factor solution based on family members' responses.

A similar procedure was also carried out on nurses' responses. Following an initial orthogonal analysis which identified eleven factors and explained 88.7% of the total variance, items 13, 14, 27, 28, 38 and 39 were eliminated from further analysis as they did not load highly on any of the factors and had low communality values. The remaining 33 items were used in a series of orthogonal and oblique analyses. The most satisfactory interpretation was found in a five factor solution from an oblique rotation which explained 63.0% of the variance in nurses' responses. This five factor solution is shown in Table 13. Each of the factors or categories will be discussed presently in terms of those items with a correlation of .50 or greater.

# Factor I: Information Regarding Patient Treatment and Prognosis

The first factor relates primarily to information about the patient's condition and treatment regime. Items which had high correlation on this factor were as follows:

# 6

#### Item

- I needed to have my questions answered honestly.
- I needed to be told about how my family member was going to be treated medically.
- 12. I needed to be told exactly what was being done for my family member.
- 16. I needed to know why things were being done for my family member.

TABLE 12

FAMILY MEMBER RESPONSES: FIVE FACTOR SOLUTION

OBLIQUE PRIMARY FACTOR STRUCTURE MATRIX

Ę.,

<u> </u>	Factors <sup>a</sup>					
ltem Number	î tem Content		11.7	111	IV	V M
2	honest answers	.614	.349	088	.123	.006
7	medical treatment	.757	.105	.005	.019	028
12	exact information	. 598	.048	.025	.084	041
16	why treatment	.537	027	.017	.070	.171
24	specific facts		.077	.101	.176	058
27	talk to doctor	.692	.041	027	.068	.121
30	understandable explanations	.674	.012	7.511	.004	.086
31 .	best care	.524	048	.013	048	.140
35	patient's chances	.643	.063	023	.209	.082
1	accepted	147	.736	.052	.144	002
5	helpful people	. 158	. 786	.049	.004	.018
6	specific person	030	4833	.046	154	010
10	caring personnel	. 152	.500	.057	.033	007
19	discuss possibility of death	. 189	587	.015	.061	.046
20	discuss feel jags	. 194	.877	.008	067	.081
26	support from	. 146	.730	.211	.006	.030
29	reassurance	. 566	.557	107	.045	.064
36	called at home	.141	.740	.080	044	.170
17	transfer plans	226	.190	.513	101	.094
18	explanation of ICU	342	.083	.575	056	.172
21	direction of staff	093	039	.579	020	.045
22	types of staff	292	269	.693	.016	032
32	staff information ",	. 197	011	.640	.040	.006
3	open visiting	-275	214	.019	.605	.043
23	see patient frequently	.025	.150	.217	.655	.055
25	(involvement with care	.042	.070	.202	:581	094
37	continuity of nursing care	021	. 376	318	.519	.003
40	another at bedside	-274	078	.098	.563	.067
4	place to be alone	071	.170	.147	.060	.624
ä	telephone	207	.034	.001	180	621
9	good food	044	288	082	013	599
11	waiting room close	066	.009	012	.507	.573
28	bathroom	031	.091	122	001	.617
33	comfortable furniture	108	.151	.043	.036	.540
1						}
				5		1

Note. Items have been reordered from the original questionnaire (See Appendix C) for ease in viewing loadings of .50 and greater on each factor.

Loadings of .50 and greater are underlined.

bitems 13, 14, 34, 38 and 39 are not listed as they had low correlations on all factors and low communality values.

TABLE 13

NURSE RESPONSES: FIVE FACTOR SOLUTION

OBLIQUE PRIMARY FACTOR STRUCTURE MATRIX

		Factors a				
item lumber	l tem Content	•	11	111	IV	V
2	honest answers	.598	.038	247	.011	116
7	medical treatment	.842	.092	136	.059	.268
12	exact information	.732	086	.142	.007	.083
16	why treatment	.637	.137	. 026	.079	146
17	transfer plans	593	.067	.044	.129	.006
24	specific facts	. 761	.020	095	.105	. 139
30	understandable explanations	.573	190	.431	036	.048
31	best care	.742	.135	320	.045	031
. 35	patient's chance	. 748	.085	017	.089	115
1	accepted	273	647	.139	.122	103
5	helpful person	148	780	.024	.268	098
6	specific person	.071	.543	164	088	.047
10 🛓	caring personnel	233	.619	097	031	.087
19 🔭	possibility of death	. 498	802	084	093	062
20	discuss feelings	.011	.793	.073	120	.032
22	types of staff	.042	.565	. 185	320	.008
26	support from friends	046	.714	.252	.023	. 286
29	reassurance	260	.553	.054	164	214
36	called at home	. 330	<u>3</u> 501	058	.074	.160
37	continuity of nursing care	.194	56.7	.049	.043	.083
18	explanation of ICU `	. 450	.121	- <u>.587</u>	ે.096	.215
21	direction from staff	.277	031	660	010	.005
32	staff information	179	.043	. 768	032	.118
3	open visiting	059	.299	.003	.519	.132
11	close Waiting room	033	.153	.075	832	.591
23	see patient frequently	.239	272	.020	.529	.033
25	involvement with care	047	221	.037	.671	056
40	another at bedside	.073	.064	021	.526	.012
4	place to be alone	.029	.242	., 134s	.229	.662
8	telephone	025	.187	. 158	.135	.612
9	good food	.071	.069	-231	.077	.832
33	comfortable furniture	163	058	.272	.128	533

Note. Items have been reordered from the original questionnaire (See Appendix D) for ease in viewing loadings of .50 and greater on each factor.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup>Loadings of .50 and greater are underlined.

bitems 13, 14, 27, 28, 38 and 39 are not listed as they had low correlations on all factors and low communality values:

- 24. I needed to have specific facts concerning my family member's progress.
- 27. I needed to talk to the doctor at least once a day.
- 30. I needed to have explanations given in terms that I could understand.
- 31. I needed reassurance that the best possible care was being given to my family member.
- 35. I needed to know my family member's chances for becoming well.

listed above correlated highly on this category with the exception of item 27. Item 17 correlated highly on this fallows the nurse responses but not for family the exception of the correlated highly on this fallows the nurse responses but not for family the correlated highly on this fallows the nurse responses but not for family the correlated highly on this fallows the nurse responses but not for family the correlated highly on this fallows the nurse responses to the corresponding to those the corresponding to those listed above correlated highly on this category with the exception of the correlated highly on this fallows the correlated highly on this fallows the correlated highly on this category.

## Factor II: Supportive Pearly

The second factor ates primarily to the discussion of feelings as well as the presence of caring people. Items which demonstrated high correlation on this factor were as follows:

#### Item

- 1. I needed to feel accepted by hospital personnel.
- 5. I needed to be told about people in the hospital who could help me.
- 6: I needed to have a specific person at the hospital to call when I couldn't be there.
- 10. I needed to feel that hospital personnel cared about my family member.
- 20. I needed to talk to someone about my feelings.

- 26. I needed to have friends nearby for support.
- 29. I needed to be reassured that it was all right to leave the hospital for a while.
- 36. I needed to know that I would be called at home if there were any changes in my family member's condition.

Item 19, the need to have someone to talk to about the possibility that the patient might die, had a high negative correlation on this factor, suggesting that this was not an important need for these family members. Items on the nurses' questionnaire which were highly correlated on this factor corresponded to those listed above. However, two additional need items had high correlations on this factor. These were:

#### Item

- 22. They need to know about the warious types of staff taking care of their family member.
- 37. They need to talk to the same nurses every day about the same nurse every

#### Factor III: Information Related to Intensive Care Environment

Factor III generally relates to information about the intensive care unit. The following items were highly correlated sen this factor:

#### Item

- 17. I needed to be told about transfer plans when they were being made.
- 18. I needed to have someone explain the sounds and equipment in the intensive care unit before I visited the first time.

- 21. I needed direction from the staff as to what was expected of me while I was at my family member's bedside.
- 22. I needed to know about the various types of staff taking care of my family member.
- 30. I needed to have explanations given in terms that I could understand.
- 32. I needed to know what type of staff could give me certain kinds of information.

Only three items were highly correlated on this factor and these corresponded to items 18, 21, and 32 listed above.

### Factor IV: Patient Visiting

Factor IV generally pertains to visiting the patient in the intensive care unit and involvement with patient care. Items which correlated highly on this factor were as follows:

#### ltem

- 3. I needed to be able to visit whenever I wanted.
- 23. I needed to see my family member frequently.
- 25. I needed to do some of the physical care for my family member.
- 37. I needed to talk to the same nurses every day about my family member's condition.
- 40. I needed to have another person with me when I visited my family member.

Items on the nurses' questionnaire corresponding to those
listed above also were highly correlated on this factor. In addition,

item 11, the need to have waiting room close to the family member, was highly correlated.

### Factor V: Physical Surroundings in Hospital

Factor V relates primarily to the physical environment within the hospital. The following items were highly correlated on this category:

### <u>l'tem</u>

- 4. I needed to have a place to be alone while at the hospital.
- II. I needed to have the waiting room near my family member.
- 28. I needed to have the bathroom near the waiting room.
- 33. I needed to have comfortable furniture in the waiting room.

ltems 8 and 9, pertaining to having a telephone nearby and having good food available had high negative correlations on this factor.

This factor accounted for 7.2% of the variance in nurses' responses. Items on the nurses' questionnaire corresponding to those listed above loaded highly on this factor, with the exception of item 11.

Overall, items which correlated highly on the factors identified through factor analysis were similar using responses from family members and nurses. Exceptions to this could possibly be due to measurement error.

## Correlation\*Among the Factors

Tables 14 and 15 illustrate the correlation among the five factors. Using responses from both the family members and nurses, Factor I correlated low negatively with Factor II while low positive correlations were present between Factor I and Factors III, IV and V. Factors II and III also showed low negative correlation, while Factors III and IV correlated low positively. This would suggest that ratings on the need items by each respondent were converted to five factor scores for both family members and nurses. Mean factor scores were then compared on various independent variables such as age, sex, and socioeconomic class for family member respondents, and amount of nursing experience for nurse respondents.

## Mean Factor Score Differences: Family Members

Regarding supportive feelings and presence of caring people, no statistically significant differences ( $\alpha$ =.05) were demonstrated among family members grouped on the variables of age, sex or socioeconomic class. This would suggest that supportive and caring personnel are important to most family members.

One way analysis of variance demonstrated a statistically significant difference ( $\alpha$ =.05) among age groups in relation to information about the intensive care unit. Younger family members demonstrated the highest mean factor score, suggesting that younger family members would rate needs pertaining to information about the intensive care environment to be more important than would older family members. A summary of the results of one way analysis of variance on this category appears in Table 16. A statistically significant difference

TABLE 14

FACTOR ANALYSIS: FAMILY MEMBER RESPONSES

CORRELATION AMONG OBLIQUE PRIMARY FACTORS

Factor		11	111	IV	٧
*** *** ******************************	1.0000	•		· · · · ·	
H	-0.1007	1.0000			
111	0.1150	-0.0461	1.0000		
IV ´	0,0114	0.1789	0.0379	1.0000	<b>.</b> .
· * <b>v</b> * * -	0.0719	0.0020	0.0279	-0.0399	1.0000

TABLE 15

# FACTOR ANALYSIS: NURSE RESPONSES

# CORRELATION AMONG OBLIQUE PRIMARY FACTORS

Factor	1	- 11	111	· · · · • • · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	٧ .
.1	1.0000	·	•		
H .	-0.1994	1.0000			
111	0.2190	-0.1074	1.0000		
IV	0.1034	0.0461	0.1098	1.0000	
٧	0.1710	0.0495	0.1223	-0.0863	1.0000

TABLE 16

ONEWAY ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE ON FAMILY MEMBER DATA FACTOR III: INFORMATION REGARDING INTENSIVE CARE ENVIRONMENT

ndependent Variable Variable Group	ariable Group	Mean Factor Score	Source	Degrees of Freedom	Sum of Squares	Mean	Ratio	Prob.
-34.	18-24 yrs(5) 25-34 yrs(13)	0.4166	Groups	بر بر	6.9865	2.3288	3.012	0.0426*
35-59 yrs(1 60+ yrs(6)	35-59 yrs(16) 60+ yrs(6)	0.3334	Groups Total	33 26	34.8243	0.7735		
male(17) female(23)	(23)	0.0813	Be tween Groups		0.0079	0.0079	0.009	0.9264
5		) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1	Within Groups	38	34.8163	0.9162	ı	1
	•		Total	33	34.8243	,		
Class [11(6)	(9)	0.5431	Between Groups	~	2.3216	0.7739	0.883	7624 0
ass 1	Class 111(10)	-0.2444	Within Groups	35	30.6858	0.8767		
A sse	Class V(10)	0.0533	Total	38	33.0075	·		

<sup>a</sup>Factor scores are in standard score form, having a mean=0, standard deviation=1.0 .

results should not be Indicates significance at 0.05 level. Because of potential bias in sample interpreted as though based on rigorous statistical inference. was also demonstrated (a=.05) among age groups on Factor V pertaining to the physical surroundings of the hospital. Family members in the highest age group demonstrated the highest mean factor score, suggesting that older family members would gate needs pertaining to physical surroundings in the hospital as more important than would younger family members. A summary of the results of the analysis of variance on Factor V appears in Table 17.

### Mean Factor Score Differences: Nurses

As the sample of nurses was relatively homogeneous with respect to age, sex and nursing education, one way analysis of variance was only performed on the five factors using 'total nursing experience' as the independent variable. Results did not demonstrate any statistically significant differences ( $\alpha=.05$ ) among groups of nurses on any of the factors.

# Summary of Factor Analysis Results

Through factor analytic procedures, five factors were identified using responses from family members and nurses. These factors included information regarding the patient's treatment and prognosis, supportive people, information related to the intensive care environment, patient visiting, and physical surroundings in the hospital.

The factor analysis performed on the responses on the rating scale suggested a degree of construct validity in that the items separated into five factors on both family members' and nurses' responses. However, two major limitations must be kept in mind when

TABLE 17

ONEWAY ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE ON FAMILY MEMBER DATA FACTPR V: PHYSICAL SURROUNDINGS IN HOSPITAL

Prob.	0.0398*	1	· / 0.2373			₩666.0		•
F Ratio	3.074		1.442			900.		
Mean Squares	2.2950		1.2341	0.8559	***************************************	0.0053	0.9132	
Sum of Squares	6.8849	33.7601	1.2341	32.5259	33.7601	0.0159	31.9628	31.9787
Degrees of Freedom	36	39		38	39	<b>m</b>	35	<b>8</b> 8
Source	Between Groups Within	Total	Between	Within Groups	Total	Between	Within Groups	Total
Mean Factor a Score	0.1465 0.3062 0.3515	0.5720	0.2233	-0.1321	•	0.0173	0.0462	-0.0057
Variable Group	18-24 yrs (5) 25-34 yrs (13) 35-59 yrs (16)	60+ yrs(6)	male(17)	female(23)		Class 11(6)	Class 111(10) Class 1V(14)	Class V(10)
Independent	Age		Sex			Socioeconomic	s se	

'a Factor scores are in standard form, having a mean=0, standard deviation=1.0 .

Because of potential bias in sampling, results should not be \*findicates significance at 0.05 level. Because of potential buildinterpreted as though based on rigorous statistical inference. interpreting the results of the factor analysis. First, the finding of a five factor solution which explained only 54.9% of the total variance in family member responses to 34 items and 63.0% of the total variance in nurse responses to 33 items renders the task of interpreting the data more difficult and the meaningfulness of the interpretation more suspect. The remaining unexplained proportion of variance must be considered error. The inability to explain more total variance is possibly due to a measurement problem. Second, as factor analysis was based on relatively small samples, it may have resulted in an unstable estimate of factors.

In terms of each factor, only two statistically significant differences were observed among groups of family members. Younger family members tended to rate needs relating to information about the intensive care environment, as more important than did older family members and older family members tended to rate needs pertaining to the physical environment of the hospital as more important than did younger family members. The finding that analysis of variance only yielded two significant results could possibly be due to the relatively small sample size and possible measurement errors. Larger, randomly selected samples should be employed to validate the present findings.

# Interpretation of Major Findings in Light of Crisis Frameworks

One of the objectives in this study was to examine the utility of both a medical and a nursing model of crisis in interpreting the needs of family members as they were described in the findings.

The medical model of crisis (Caplan, 1964; Rapaport, 1962; and others) postulates that an emotional crisis is evoked when the usual homeostatic, problem-solving mechanisms break down in the face of an overwhelming event. Or tical illness necessitating a patient's admission to the intensive care unit is not an everyday challenge with which people have to cope and may well be overwhelming to family members. Indeed, the uncertainty of the patient's prognosis and unfamiliarity with the intensive care environment naturally place increased demands upon family members' existing internal and external resources.

Findings from the present study indicated that family members needed most importantly to have honest, understandable answers to their questions and feel that someone cared about the patient. ses from family members to the open-ended question demonstrated anger and annoyance when these needs were not met. Findings also suggested that nurses intervene as external resources by interpreting events for family members, thereby assisting family members to gain control of the situation. This attempt to gain control of the situation through seeking assistance from appropriate resources would be interpreted by this investigator as an adaptive response. Family members would thus not be considered to be in "crisis" as it is defined by the medical model, but rather to be seeking external resources to support their present coping abilities, as outlined in the nursing model of crisis. In this regard, the crisis framework proposed by Narayan and Joslin (1980) lends itself more readily to the understanding of the family members' situation. In emphasizing the adequacy of existing coping mechanisms and focussing on the health component of intervention, it

would logically follow that if external resources such as intervention by health care personnel were adequate and needs were met, then a crisis for family members could be resolved. Intervention with family members on the part of the ICU nurse thus becomes focussed upon clarification and meeting of their special needs, either by direct intervention or referral to appropriate resources, in order to promote the well-being of family members during the stressful period of a critical illness.

#### CHAPTER VI

SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS, IMPLICATIONS FOR NURSING AND RECOMMENDATIONS

In this chapter a summary of the study is given, major conclusions are drawn and implications for nursing practice, education, and administration are explored. Recommendations for future research on family members of ICU patients are also given.

#### Summary

A review of the literature revealed that family members of patients in intensive care units have special needs arising from the patients' uncertain prognosis as well as the family members' lack of familiarity with the intensive care environment. Although research studies have explored the needs experienced by family members of ICU patients, no studies compared family members' and ICU nurses' perceptions of family members' needs. A knowledge of the differences between these perceptions would assist in the planning of most appropriate interventions.

As a preliminary investigation of these perceptions, a study was conducted 1) to determine the relative importance of selected needs of family members as they are perceived by family members and ICU nurses; 2) to determine whether and by whom these needs are being met according to family members and ICU nurses; and 3) to determine the amount of agreement between family members' and nurses' perceptions regarding nursing's responsibility to meet family members' needs. A medical model of crisis (Caplan, 1964; Rapaport, 1962; and others) and a nursing model of crisis (Narayan & Joslin, 1980) provided the theoretical basis for the study.

A descriptive research design involving two independent samples of 40 family members and 31 nurses from the intensive care unit of a large metropolitan teaching hospital was used. Data were collected from family members following the patient's transfer out of the intensive care unit using a questionnaire containing 40 need tatements developed by Molter (1976, 1972). A four point Likert-type scale measured the importance of needs as perceived by the subjects. Respondents indicated whether each need was met and whether it was a responsibility of nursing to meet the need. One open-ended question sought to identify additional needs experienced by family members as perceived by family members and nurses.

Descriptive statistics were used to analyze the results.

Kendall's tau was utilized to measure the degree of association between the importance of needs and selected characteristics of the samples. Factor analysis was performed on the responses to the rating scale to identify major factors or components of needs that were being measured. In order to determine differences among various categories of respondents, a number of analyses of variance on factor scores were carried out.

Findings of this study were as follows:

(1) the needs considered important by the majority of family members related to receiving honest, understandable information about the patient's prognosis and medical treatment, and knowing that hospital personnel cared about the patient. The need to feel that there is hope was unanimously considered to be very important. Each need statement on the question-

naire was considered very important by at least one family member.

- (2) The variables of age, sex and socioeconomic class did not appear to be associated with the relative importance of the needs for family members.
- (3) The majority of family members considered that their needs were met. Experiens to this were the need to talk to the december and the need to have a place to be alone while at the hospital.
- (4) The majority of family members indicated that their needs were met by nurses. Other visitors contributed to meeting emotional support needs.
- (5) Responses from ICU nurses demonstrated agreement with family members regarding those needs generally considered important to family members. Length of nursing experience did not appear to influence the relative importance of the needs.
- (6) Family members and nurses were in general agreement regarding the responsibility of nursing to meet their needs. Two notable exceptions were the need to have someone to talk to about their feelings and the need to have someone concerned about their health. In both instances, a greater percentage of nurses than family members indicated it was a responsibility of nursing to meet these needs.
- (7) Factor analysis on the questionnaire identified five major underlying components of family members' needs.

These were: needs related to information about the patient's treatment and prognosis; needs related to supportive people; needs regarding patient visiting; needs regarding information about the intensive care environment; and needs pertaining to the physical surroundings in the hospital. These categories explained 63.0% of the variance in nurse responses and 54.9% in family members' responses. Fifteen analyses of variance on these factor scores resulted in only two statistically significant differences, suggesting that the perception of needs by family members was not associated with the demographic variables and the second second

(8) Family members in older age groups rated needs pertaining to the physical environment of the hospital as being more important than did those in younger age groups while younger family members, tended to rate needs regarding information about the intensive care environment as being more important than did those in older age groups.

#### Conclusions

Conclusions drawn from this investigation are as follows:

- study are similar to those considered important to family members in this members in previous studies.
  - (2) The need to maintain hope appears to be of greatest importance to family members during the uncertainty of

a critical illness.

- (3) Family members were able to identify whether the needs important to them were met. Such an awateness could be used to apply principles of crisis intervention (Burgess & Baldwin, 1981) on both individual and group bases.
- (4) Although the majority of family members indicated that their heeds were met by nurses, other resources, including other visitors, were helpful in meeting their needs.
- (5) There was indication that ICU nurses were attuned to the needs experienced by family members of ICU patients and were aware of constraints imposed by time, workload and the physical setting of the intensive care environment.
- (6) The nursing model of crisis proposed by Narayan and

  Joslin (1980) is helpful in understanding and articulating the needs experienced by family members of ICU
  patients.

## Implications for Nursing

Limitations of the study design and sampling technique used restrict the immediate implications of the study for nursing. The main value of the study is heuristic; serving to direct the focus of further research on ICU patients' families. The present findings should be validated by further research before suggestions for nursing practice, education and administration are considered for implementation. The implications for nursing discussed below are considered in light of this.

Needs which were rated as being most important to family members in this study pertained to receiving honest and accurate infor-

mation regarding the patient's condition and treatment. In planning the care of the patient to include family members, the nurse may promote meeting the need for information by setting aside a particular time each day for nurse-family contact. The meeting would have the purpose of providing family members with information regarding the patient's condition and may also be helpful in providing needed emotional support. An atmosphere of hope and concern could be provided through a group process, such as in family support groups.

Although considered to be important to both family members and nurses in this study, the need to talk to the doctor daily was not met for the majority of the family members. While the duties of medical staff in an intensive care unit and involvement with emergency situations dictate that family members have limited access to doctors to answer their questions, nurses can be instrumental in arranging doctor-family meetings. In consultation with family members, a time could be set aside during the day for these contacts and noted on the patient's care plan.

Family members indicated that the need to visit the patient frequently was very important. Flexible visiting hours in the intensive care unit in the present study contributed to meeting this need. The length and timing of visits should be at the discretion of the nurse caring for the patient, and based upon accurate assessment of the patient and family members.

The development of tools for systematic assessment and care planning would allow the nurse to become more proficient in the recognition of family members' needs. These assessment tools should be included in nursing curricula. Discussion of family coping mechanisms

and response to illness should be incorporated to promote the development of family-focussed nursing care and accurate family assessment skills.

#### Recommendations

The importance of those needs <u>commonly</u> experienced by family members was explored in this study. Further research may also include a comparative study to determine if there are similarities or differences in the needs of family members as they are perceived by the nurse caring for specific patients in the intensive care unit and their family member(s).

Results indicated that the meeting of each need was considered by at least one family member to be a responsibility of nursing. The questionnaire however did not elicit information pertaining to whether the responsibility was shared by other health professionals. It would be interesting in future investigations to explore the perceptions of family members and various health professionals regarding this point; e.g., should some of the emotional needs identified as important in the present study be the responsibility of social workers and/or psychologists as well as nurses?

As this study was undertaken following the patients' transfer out of the intensive care unit, future research focussing on family members might be directed at comparing needs and their importance to family members as the patient in the intensive care unit passes from the critical phase of illness to a more stable phase. It is also recommended that further research include experimental studies to determine if specific interventions contribute to the family members' feeling that their needs were being met.

Although this investigation accomplished the overall objective of exploring family members' needs as they are perceived by family members and ICU nurses, further research is required to validate the present findings and to explore this relationship more fully. It is important that in any future research in which the perceptions of family members and nurses are compared, consideration be given to overcoming the limitations associated with this study.

Based upon the results and experience of this investigator, the following specific recommendations are made:

- (1) Respondents should be randomly selected and larger sample sizes be used in order to allow generalizability of the findings and increase the power of the results of statistical analyses.
- (2) This study involved only family members of patients who were in the recuperative stage following transfer from the intensive care unit. Future research should also include family members of patients who had recently died in the intensive care unit to ascertain their needs.
- (3) As additional needs were identified by respondents in the present study, refinements on the questionnaire are necessary before it exhaustively reflects the needs experienced by family members of ICU patients.
- (4) The ranking of needs in this study was based on scores derived from respondents' rating of the importance of needs considered individually, rather than on respondents' own ranking of needs. In future research, the use of

- a Q-sort method (Nunnally, 1959) for determining the relative importance of needs according to family members and ICU nurses could be explored.
- (5) The cut-off percentage for needs having been met in the present study was fifty percent. In future research it is recommended that the percentage cut-off point be higher and determined by nursing unit personnel.

In light of the above recommendations, further research which supports the findings in this study could provide valuable ground work for the development of theory upon which interventions could be based to assist families during the critical illness of a member.

### SELECTED REFERENCES

- Ackerman, N. The Psychodynamic of Family Life. New York: Basic Books, 1958.
- Aguilera, D. and Messick, J. Crisis Intervention: Theory and Methodology. 3rd Ed. St. Louis: C.V. Mosby Co., 1978.
- Anthony, J. The impact of mental and physical illness on family life.

  American Journal of Psychiatry, 1970, 127(2),138-146.
- Baudry, F. and Wiener, A. The family of the surgical patient. Surgery, 1968, 63(3), 416-422.
- Beckingham, C. R. What about the relatives? The New Zealand Nursing Journal, 1976, 69(11), 14-15.
- Benoliel, J.Q. The nurse-family relationship. In L. Curtin and M.J. Flaherty, Eds. Nursing Ethics: Theories and Pragmatics. Bowie, Maryland: R.J. Brady Co., 1982.
- Berezowsky, M. <u>Family reaction to stroke</u>. Unpublished Master's Thesis, University of Alberta, 1979.
- Blichfeldt, M. P. The needs of families of acutely ill patients.
  Unpublished Master's Thesis, University of Michigan, 1979.
- Breu, C. and Dracup, K. Helping the spouses of critically ill patients. American Journal of Nursing, 1978, 78(1), 50-54.
- Brose, C. Theories of family crisis. In D. Hymovich and M. Barnard, Eds. Family Health Care. New York: McGraw Hill Book Co., 1973.
- Brown, T. Family reaction to the crisis of illness. Unpublished Master's Thesis, University of British Columbia, 1979.
- Burgess, A. W. and Baldwin, B.A. <u>Crisis Intervention Theory and Practice: A Clinical Handbook</u>. <u>Englewood Cliffs</u>, N.J., 1981.
- Caplan, G. Principles of Preventive Psychiatry. New York: Basic Books, 1964.
- Cattell, R. B. Factor Analysis: An Introduction and Manual for the Psychologist and Social Scientist. New York: Harper & Brothers Publishers, 1952.
- Cole, C. Social work in an intensive care unit. <u>Injury</u>, 1976, 7(4), 244-245.

- Cooper, C. The waiting room. American Journal of Nursing, 1976, 76(2), 273-274.
- Craven, R. and Sharp, B. The effects of illness on family functions.

  Nursing Forum, 1972, 11(2), 188-191.
- DeVito, A. J. Critical care patients have families. <u>Critical Care Nurse</u>, 1981, 1(5), 8-11.
- Dickson, M. A. Interpersonal interaction in a hospital waiting room:

  an analysis. Unpublished Master's Thesis, Emory University,
  1975.
- Doerr, B. and Jones, J. Effect of family preparation on the state anxiety level of the CCU patient. <u>Nursing Research</u>, 1979, 28(5), 315-316.
- Dracup, K. and Breu, C. Using nursing research to meet the needs of grieving spouses. Nursing Research, 1978, 27(4), 212-216.
- DuBos, R. So Human an Animal. New York: Charles Scribner's Sons, 1968.
- Epperson, M. Families in sudden crisis: process and intervention in a critical care centre. Social Work in Health Care, 1977, 2(3), 265-273.
- Farkas, S. W. Impact of chronic illness on the patient's spouse. Health and Social Work, 1980, 5(4), 39-46.
- Finlayson, A. Social networks as coping resources: lay help and consultation patterns used by women in husbands' post-infarction career. Social Science and Medicine, 1976, 10(4), 97-103.
- Frost, M. Talking and listening to relatives. <u>Nursing Times</u>, 1970, <u>66(9)</u>, 129-132.
- Gardner, D. and Stewart, N. Staff involvement with families of patients in critical care units. Heart and Lung, 1970, 7(1), 105-110.
- Geary, M. Supporting family coping. Supervisor Nurse, 1979, 10(3), 52-59.
- by family members of patients in intensive care units.
  Unpublished Master's Thesis, University of Toronto, 1981.
- Glasser, P. and Glasser, L. <u>Families in Crisis</u>. New York: Harper & Row, 1970.

- Greenley, N. Dying in hospital and at home: perceived needs of the terminally ill and their significant others. Unpublished Master's Thesis, University of Calgary, 1981.
- Hampe, S. Needs of the grieving spouse in a hospital setting. Nursing Research, 1975, 24(2), 113-119.
- Higgins, H. Your patient's illness is a family affair. RN, 1976, 39 (11), 48-49.
- Hollingshead, A. B. Two-factor Index of social position. Unpublished manuscript, 1957 (Available from 1965 Yale Station, New Haven, Connecticut).
- Holub, N., Eklund, P. and Keenan, P. Family conferences as an adjunct to total coronary care. Heart and Lung, 1975, 4(5), 767-769.
- Hoover, M. J. Intensive care for relatives. Hospitals, 1979, 79(9), 219-222.
- Irwin, B. L. and Meier, J. R. Supportive measures for relatives of the fatally ill. In M. Botey, Ed. Communicating Nursing Research. Boulder, Colorado: Western Interstate Commission for Higher Education, 1973.
- Jillings, C. R. Nursing intervention with the family of the critically ill patient. <u>Critical Care Nurse</u>, 1981, 1(5), 27-31.
- Kaplan, D., Grobstein, R. and Smith, A. Predicting the impact of severe illness in families. Health and Social Work, 1976, 1(3), 71-82.
- Kerlinger, F. N. Foundations of Behavioral Research. 2nd Ed. New York: Holt, Rinehart & Winston, Inc., 1973.
- Klein, D. and Bogdonoff, M. Impact of illness on the spouse. <u>Journal</u> of Chronic Disease, 1967, 20, 241-248.
- Konrad, C. Communication between relatives, patients and nurses during the first visiting period after the patient's emergency admission to an ICU. Unpublished Master's Thesis, McGill University, 1973.
- Krueger, J. C., Nelson, A. H. and Wolanin, M. O. <u>Nursing Research</u>. Germantown, Maryland: Aspen Systems Corporation, 1978.
- Lindemann, E. Symptomatology and management of acute grief. American Journal of Psychiatry, 1944, 101(2), 141-148.
- Litman, T. J. The family as a basic unit in health and medical care: a social-behavioral overview. Social Science and Medicine, 1974, 8(9), 495-519.

- Livsey, C. Physical illness and family dynamics. Advanced Psychosomatic Medicine, 1972, 8, 237-251.
- Logan, B. The nurse and the family: dominant themes and perspectives in the literature. In K. A. Knafl and H. K. Grace, Eds.

  Families Across the Life Cycle: Studies for Nursing. Boston: Little-Brown, 1978.
- Mailick, M. The impact of severe illness on the individual and the family. Social Work in Health Care, 1979, 5(2), 117-128.
- Maslow, A. H. Motivation and Personality. 2nd Ed. New York: Harper & Row, 1970.
- Mauss-Clum, N. and Ryan, M. Brain injury and the family. <u>Journal</u> of Neurosurgical Nursing, 1981, 13(4), 165-169.
- Michaels, D. R. Too much in need of support to give any? American Journal of Nursing, 1971, 71(10), 1932-1935.
- Molter, N. The identification of needs of and their importance to relatives of critically ill patients. Unpublished Master's Thesis, Emory University, 1976.
- Molter, N. Needs of relatives of critically ill patients. Heart and Lung, 1979, 8(2), 332-339.
- Narayan, S. M. and Joslin, D. J. Crisis theory and intervention: a critique of the medical model and proposal of a holistic nursing model. Advances in Nursing Science, 1980, 2(4), 27-39.
- New, P. The support structures of heart and stroke patients: a study of the role of significant others in patient rehabilitation. Social Science and Medicine, 1968, 2(2), 185-200.
- Nie, N. H., Hull, C. H., Jenkins, J. G., Steinbrenner, K. and Bent,
  D. H. SPSS: Statistical Package for the Social Sciences.
  2nd Ed. New York: McGraw-Hill Book Company, 1975.
- Norbeck, J. S. Social support: a model for clinical research and application. Advances in Nursing Science, 1981, 3(4), 43-59.
- Nunnally, J. C. Tests and Measurements Assessment and Prediction. New York: McGraw-Hill Book Co., 1959.
- Oakes, A. R. Near-death events and critical care nursing. <u>Topics</u> in Clinical Nursing, 1981, 3(3), 61-78.
- Olsen, E. H. The impact of serious illness on the family system. Post Graduate Medicine, 1970, 47(2), 169-174.

- Parad, H. J., Ed. <u>Crisis Intervention: Selected Readings.</u> New York: Family Service Association of America, 1965.
- Parkes, M. C. Home or hospital? Terminal care as seen by surviving spouses. Journal of the Royal College of General Practitioners, 1978, 28(1), 36-45.
- Parsons, T. and Fox, R. Illness, therapy and the modern urban family. In N. Bell and E. Vogel, Eds. A Modern Introduction to the Family. New York: MacMillan, 1968.
- Pilisuk, M. and Froland, C. Kinship, social networks, social support and health. Social Science and Medicine, 1978, 12(b), 273-280.
- Pinneo, R. Family rehabilitation: an adult with a myocardial infarction. In Hymovich, D. and Hymovich, M., Eds. <u>Family Health</u> <u>Care.</u> 2nd Ed. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1979.
- Porritt, D. Social support in crisis: quantity or quality? <u>Social</u> <u>Science and Medicine</u>, 1979, <u>13</u>(A), 715-721.
- Potter, P. A. Stress and the ICU: the family's perception.

  <u>Missouri Nurse</u>, 1979, 48(7), 5-8.
- Rapaport, L. The state of crisis: some theoretical considerations. Social Service Review, 1962, 6, 211-217.
- Rasie, S. Meeting families' needs helps you meet ICU patients' needs.

  Nursing, 1980, 10(7), 32-35.
- Reichle, M. J. Psychological stress in the ICU. Nursing Digest, 1975, 75(3), 12-15.
- Roberts, S. <u>Behavioral Concepts and the Critically III Patient.</u>
  Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice Hall Inc., 1976.
- Rosenthal, C. J., Marshall, V. W., Macpherson, A. S. and French, S. E. Nurses, Patients and Families. New York: Springer Publishing Co., 1980.
- Samlard, S. Significant others' perceptions of their concerns, feelings, and behaviors during the first 48 hours after a patient's admission to the emergency department for a critical illness. Unpublished Master's Thesis, University of Toronto, 1980.
- Siegel, S. <u>Non-Parametric Statistics for the Behavioral Sciences</u>. Toronto: McGraw-Hill, 1956.
- Silva, M. C. Effects of orientation information on spouses' anxieties and attitudes toward hospitalization and surgery. Research in Nursing and Health, 1979, 2(3), 127-136.

- Silva, M. C. Spouses and nurses too. <u>Canadian Nurse</u>, 1977, 73(12), 38-41.
- Simmons, H. Personal communication. University of Alberta, October 1982.
- Simon, N. M. and Poelker, G. A family affair: dealing with families of ICU patients. In N Simon, Ed. The Psychological Aspects of Intensive Care Nursing. Bowle, Maryland: Robert J. Brady Co., 1980.
- Skelton, M. and Dominion, J. Psychological stress in wives of patients with myocardial infarction. British Medical Journal, 1973, 2(5), 101-103.
- Smith, L. A review of crisis intervention theory. <u>Social Casework</u>, 1978, <u>59</u>(7), 396-405.
- Speedling, E. Social structure and social behavior in an I.C.U.: patient family perspectives. Social Work in Health Care, 1980, 6(2), 1-22.
- Stember, M. L. Familial response to hospitalization of an adult member. In M. Batey, Ed. <u>Communicating Nursing Research</u>.
  Boulder, Colorado: Western Interstate Commission for Higher Education, 1977.
- Thompsen, I. V. The patient with severe head injury and his family.

  Scandanavian Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine, 1974, 6(3), 180-183.
- Tolsdorf, C. Social network, support and coping. Family Process, 1976, 15(12), 407-417.
- Wallace, P. Relatives should be told about intensive care-but how much and by whom? The Canadian Nurse, 1971, 67, 33-34.
- Weller, D. J. and Miller, P. M. Emotional reactions of patients, family and staff in acute-care period of spinal cord injury.

  Part II. Social Work in Health Care, 1977, 3(1), 7-17.
- Williams, C. and Rice, D. G. The ICU: social work intervention with the families of critically ill patients. Social Work in Health Care, 1977, 2(4), 391-398.
- Williamson, Y. Methodological dilemmas in tapping the concept of patient needs. Nursing Research, 1978, 27(3), 172-177.
- Williamson, Y.M. Research Methodology and Its Application to Nursing. New York: John Wiley and Sons, 1981.
- Wilson, B. Nursing needs of families during three stages of a family member's respiratory illness. Unpublished Master's Thesis,

- Wilson, B. Nursing needs of families during three stages of a family member's respiratory illness. Unpublished Master's Thesis, University of Toronto, 1975.
- Zawatski, E., Katz, B. and Krekeler, K. Perceived needs and satisfaction with nursing care by spouses of patients in CCU. Perceptual Motor Skills, 1979, 49(8), 170.

# APPENDIX A

LETTERS OF PERMISSION, CONSENT FORMS AND COVERING LETTER



#### FACULTY OF NURSING

CLINICAL SCIENCES BUILDING EDMONTON, CANADA TEG 263

June 4, 1982

Dr. G.D. Molnar
Chairman,
Department of Medicine
Clinical Sciences Building
University of Alberta
Edmonton, Alberta

Dear Dr. Molnar:

As part of the requirements for the Master of Nursing degree, I am conducting a study to explore the needs of family members of ICU patients as they are perceived by family members and ICU nurses. Dr. S. Stinson, Professor, Faculty of Nursing, is Chairman of my thesis committee.

I wish to seek approval from the Department of Medicine in conducting this study at University of Alberta Hospital. The study will also be reviewed by the Nursing Research and Scholarly Activities Committee and the Special Services and Research Committee at U.A.H.

Enclosed please find a copy of the research proposal. I hope the proposed study would be of benefit and interest to your department, and I look forward to your comments and suggestions.

Sincerely,

Margaret D. Prowse R.N.,BSc.N. M.N. Candidate Faculty of Nursing



#### FACULTY OF NURSING

CLINICAL SCIENCES BUILDING EDMONTON, CANADA 766 263

June 4, 1982

Dr. O.G. Thurston Acting Chairman, \* Department of Surgery Clinical Sciences Building University of Alberta Edmonton, Alberta

Dear Dr. Thurston:

As part of the requirements for the Master of Nursing degree, I am conducting a study to explore the needs of family members of ICU patients as they are perceived by family members and ICU nurses. Dr. S. Stinson, Professor, Faculty of Nursing, is Chairman of my thesis committee.

I wish to seek approval from the Department of Surgery in conducting this study at University of Alberta Hospital. The study will also be reviewed by the Nursing Research and Scholarly Activities Committee and the Special Services and Research Committee at UAH.

Enclosed please find a copy of the research proposal. I hope the proposed study would be of benefit and interest to your department, and I look forward to your comments and suggestions.

Sincerely,

Margaret D. Prowse RN.,BScN. MN Candidate

# RESEARCH CONSENT FORM

This is to certify that I,, have agreed
to participate in a study being conducted by Margaret Prowse, a graduate
student in nursing, on the needs of family members of ICU patients.
It is my understanding that:

- 1) I will be answering a questionnaire regarding the needs I perceive family members of patients in the intensive care unit experience;
- 2) my participation in the study is voluntary and I may refuse to answer any question(s), or may withraw from the study at any time with no consequences;
- 3) all responses on the questionnaire will be anonymous;
- 4) I will be able to know the results of the study once it is completed.

Signature	 	`
Witness		
Date		

# RESEARCH CONSENT FORM

This is to certify that I,	_•	have	agree	ıd
to participate in a study being conducted by Margaret	Pro	wse,	a gra	ıduate
student in nursing, on the needs of family members of	pat	ients	who	have
been in the intensive care unit. It is my understandi	ng	that:		J

- 1) I will be answering a questionnaire regarding the needs I experienced while my family member was in the intensive care unit;
- 2) my participation in the study is voluntary and I may refuse to answer any question(s), or may withdraw from the study at any time with no consequences;
- 3) all responses on the questionnaire will be anonymous;
- 4) I may not necessarily directly benefit from participating in the study.

Signature	 	
Witness		·····
Date		



#### FACULTY OF NURSING

CLINICAL SCIENCES BUILDING EDMONTON, CANADA 766 268

#### Dear Nurse:

I am a graduate student in the Faculty of Nursing at the University of Alberta and as part of the requirements for my program I am conducting a study to explore the needs of family members of ICU patients.

Your participation in this study would be greatly appreciated. Realizing that your time is limited, I am using a questionnaire which takes approximately thirty minutes to complete. All responses on the questionnaire will remain anonymous and will be used for research purposes only.

If you agree to participate in the study, you are asked to sign the enclosed consent form and have it witnessed by another staff member. Please leave your consent form in the envelope at the main desk in Station 68.

The completed questionnaire may be mailed to the researcher in the envelope provided, or may be left in the large envelope at the main desk in Station 68. Please return the questionnaire within one week.

Thank you in advance for your time and assistance. I will be happy to share the results of the study with you when it is completed.

Yours sincerely,

Margaret D. Prowse R.N., BSc.N. MN Candidate

APPENDIX B
RESEARCH QUESTIONNAIRES

#### MEEDS OF FAMILY MEMBERS OF JOJ PATIENTS

## INSTRUCTIONS

On the following pages 4s a list of statements of meeds which you may have experienced while your relative/friend was in the intensive care unit.

- Please read each statement carefully, and in the columns next to the statement, indicate if it was (1) not important at all to you, (2) slightly important to you, (3) important to you, or (4) very important to you.
- 2. In the next two columns please place a check mark to indicate whether or not you feel that the need was generally met, and by whom, according to the choices given. You may select more than one of the choices.
- 3. In the last column, indicate whether or not you feel it is the responsibility of nursing to meet that need.
- 4. On the lines provided, please write down any additional needs that you experienced which are not mentioned in the list.
- Finally, please complete the information regarding your age, sex, relationship to the patient, and number of times you visited the intensive care mit.

Thank you for your participation in this study. Please mail your completed questionnaire in the envelope provided as soon as possible. If you have any questions or would like further information regarding this study please feel frec to contact the researcher at the address below:

Ms. Margaret Procese
M.M. Program
Faculty of Mursing
Clinical Sciences Building
University of Alberta
Edmonton, Alberta T6G 2G3

Phone: 432-2216

Meed statements obtained from Molter, N. The <u>Identification of Needs of and Their</u>
<u>Importance to Relatives of Critically 111 Patients</u>. Unpublished Master's Thesis.
<u>Emory University</u>, 1976.

# POOR PRINT Epreuve illisible

			,		MS THE		14 MOR		8:		•
	Deat	DPORTANCE OF MED	8	•	MEED COMEDALLY MET?	JUINER	CHAPL DOCTO RELAT FRIEN	CHAPL DOCTO	PORSIBILITY OF REASING PEET THE RE	E TE TE	
	Not Important	Sightly	III.	Very Important	127	2	VISITO	AIN	ħ	2	
23. I needed to see by relative/friend frequently.						F		$\vdash$			
24. I needed to have specific facts concerning my relative/friend's progress,							F	F			
23. I necess to 60 some of the physical care for my relative/friend, 26. I needed to have friends nearby for support.		1					Ŧ	#			
					İ	Ŧ	Ŧ	‡			
28. I needed to have the bathroom near the waiting room,						F	F	+			
29. I needed to be reassured that it was all right to leave the haspital for a while.							F	‡			
30. I needed to have explanations given in terms that I could understand.						F	Ŧ	‡			
31. I needed reassurance that the best care possible was being given to my rela- tive/friend.							F				
12. I needed to know what type of staff could give me certain kinds of informa-							F				
33. I needed to have confortable furniture in the maiting room,					T		F	ŧ			
34. I needed to have someone concerned about my health.						F	F	L			
						F	E	F			
<ol> <li>I needed to know that I would be called at home if there were any changes in my relative/friend's candition.</li> </ol>							E	$\vdash$			
37. I needed to talk to the same nurses every day about my relative/friend's condition.							E				
38. I needed someone to encourage me to cry.						F	E	E			
<ol> <li>I needed to receive information about my relative/friend's condition at leas once a day.</li> </ol>				`		F	E				٠
40. I needed to have another person with me when I visited my relative/friend.	-		-			F	E	F		1	

41. If there are any other needs that you had which were not mentioned in the previous statements please describe below.

42. Your age: 14-24_	11-21	25-34	35-59	ş			
40. Your sex: Rale_	3	Femile				F	
44. Tour relittionship to petient:	fonship to p	itlent:					
2	Herband Arife.		Brother/ Sister				
2	Parent		Other (please specify)	K(1)			
45. Your highest level of education	st lemi of a	decation					
46. Your occupation	it los				·		
17. Appreximete	aly how many	wistes did you	47. Approximately how many visits did you make to the intensive care unit?	ilm care unit?			
	Less than five	 	five to ten	ا	Greater than ten		

THANK YOU FOR YOUR PARTICIPATION IN THIS STUDY, PLEASE MILL YOUR COPPLETED QUESTIONNAINE IN THE ENVILLENE PROVIDED.

# POOR PRINT Epreuve illisible

## MURSES' QUESTIONNAIRE

#### MEEDS OF FAMILY MEMBERS OF ICU PATIENTS

## INSTRUCTIONS

On the following pages is a list of statements of needs which family members of ICU patients \*\* experience.

- Please read each statement carefully and, in the adjacent columns, indicate whether you feel it is (1) not important at all to family members,
   (2) slightly important to family members, (3) important to family members,
   or (4) very important to family members.
- Please place a check mark in the appropriate column to indicate whether or not you feel that the need is generally met.
- In the last column, indicate whether or not you feel it is the responsibility of aursing to meet the need.
- On the lines provided please write down any additional needs that you feel family members may experience which are not mentioned in the list.
- Finally, please complete the information regarding your age, sex, nursing education and nursing experience.

Thank you for your participation in this study. Please leave your completed questionnaire in the envelope provided, or leave it in the large envelope at the main desk in Station 68. If you have any questions or would like further information regarding this study please feel free to contact the researcher at the address below:

Ms. Margaret Prowse
M.M. Program
Faculty of Mursing
Clinical Sciences Building
University of Alberta
Edmonton, Alberta T6G 2G3

Phone: 432-2216

\*Family member is defined as a person eighteen years of age or older related to or living with the patient, and who visited the patient at least three times while in the intensive care unit.

<sup>1</sup>CU patients are those eighteen years of age or older who have spent between three and thirty days in the intensive care unit.

Į

# POOR PRINT Epreuve illisible

				ş.	<b>8</b>	191	SO YOU FEEL.	7. 15 A	
•		IMPORTANCE OF INCED	MEED			CENERALLY PETY	ING TO PERT THE	TO MENS-	,
	Not Slightly Important	S11ghtly Important	Important	Very Important	15	2	22	2	
STATEMENTS		T							
1. They need to feel accepted by hospital personnel.									
2. They need to have their questions answered honestly.	-					T			
3. They need to be able to visit whenever they want.						Ī			
4. They need to have a place to be alone while at the hospital,						Ī			
5. They need to be told about people in the hospital who could help them.									
6. They need to have a specific person at the hospital to call when they cannot be there.				-					
7. They need to be told about how their family member is going to be treated needically.			,					1	
8. They need to have a telephone mearby where they are waiting.									-
9. They need to have good food easily available to them while at the hospital.	•				-	T		ľ	
10. They need to feel that hospital personnel care about their family member,									
11. They need to have the waiting room near the family member.									
12. They need to be told exactly what is being done for their family member.		·				-			
13. They need to be alone.						T			
14. They need to be told about chaplain services.						ŀ			
15. They need to feel that there is hope,									
15. They need to know why things are being done for their family member.	-								
17. They need to be told about transfer plans when they are being made.									
18. They need to have someone explain the sounds and equipment in the intensive care unit before they visit for the first time.	-					-			
19. They need someone to talk to about the possibility that their family member riant die.									
20. They need to talk to someone about their feelings.									
21. They need direction from the staff as to what is expected of them when they are at their family member's bedside,						<u> </u>			٠.
			-			•			

		PPORTANCE OF MED		٥	THE MEED IS CEMERALLY ME	THE MEED IS SERVED IN METAL	50 TOV FEEL IT IS A. RESPONSIBILITY OF MARK.	17 15 A. 17 OF MASS. 18 METS
	Not Important	Slightly	Not Slightly Important	Very Japortant	ž	8	£\$	9
22. They need to know about the various types of staff taking care of their family member.								
23. They need to see their family member frequently.								
24. They need to have specific facts concerning their family member's progress.								
25. They need to do same of the physical care for their family member.								
26. They need to have friends nearby for support.		·						
· 27. They need to talk to the doctor at least once a day.	,							
28. They need to have a bathroom near the walting room.								
29. They need to be reassured that it is all right to leave the hospital for a while.		\						
30. They need to have explanations given in terms that they can understand.							•	
31. They need to have reassurance that the best possible care is being given to their family member.								
32. They need to know what type of staff can give them certain kinds of information.								
33. They need to have confortable furniture in the waiting room.								
31. They need to have someone concerned about their health.								
35. They need to know their family member's chances of becoming well.								
36. They need to know that they would be called at home if there were any change: in their family member's condition.								
37. They need to talk to the same nurses every day about their family member's cardition.						30		
38. They need scheone to encourage them to cry.								
<ol> <li>They need to receive information about their family member's condition at least ence a day.</li> </ol>		,						
40. They need to have another person with them while they visit their family member at the bedside.	/	1						

# POOR PRINT Epreuve illisible

42. Apr: 10-24 15-34 35-59	43. San H. F.	
44. Mersing Education:	a .	
M Basic degree		-
ftt Post-basic degree		
Other (Please specify e.g. Master's degree, nursing specialty courses)	lty courses)	1
45. Now long have you been in critical care nursing? years months		
4 6. Number of years of everall nersing experience: years months	Sec. 1	
4% Are you currently employed part-time or full time? part-time	(m) time	

THANK YOU FOR YOUR PARTICIPATION IN THIS STUDY, PLEASE MAIL YOUR COMPLETED QUESTIONNAINE IN THE ENVELOME PROVIDED. On Leave it in the lance envelome at the main desk in station 68.

APPENDIX C

TABLES

TABLE 18

RANKING OF NEEDS FROM MOST IMPORTANT TO LEAST IMPORTANT
BY FREQUENCY OF RESPONSES FROM FAMILY MEMBERS (n=40)

	n	, 0	ategories o	f Importanc	e
	Need	Not Important	Slightly Important	Important	Very Important
1.	To feel that there is hope.				40
2.	To know that they would be called at home if there were any changes in the patient's condition.			1	39
	To have their questions answered honestly.			3	37
4.	To know the patient's chances of becoming well.	•		4 ~	36
5.	To feel that hospital personnel care about the patient.		1	4	35
6.	To have reassurance that the best possible care is being given to the patient.			7	33
7.	To see the patient frequenty.	1	:	4	35
8.	To be told exactly what is being done for the patient.			9	31
9.	To receive information about the patient's condition at least once a day.		1	6	33

TABLE 18 (Continued)

			Categories o	of Importance	:e
	Need	Not Important	Slightly Important	Important	Very Important
10.	To have explanations given in terms that they can understand.		1	7	32
11.	To be told how the patient is going to be treated medi-cally.	•	1	13	26
12.	To know why things are being done for the patient.			15	25
13.	To have someone explain the sounds and equipment in the intensive care unit before they visit for the first time.	. 1		16	23
14.	To talk to the doctor at least once a day.	2		15	23
15.	To be told about transfer plans when they are being made.	1		17	22
16.	To be able to visit whenever they want.	1	2	16	21
17.	To have specific facts concerning the patient's progress.	2	1	15	22
18.	To have a specific person at the hospital to call when they cannot be there.	3	2	12	23

TABLE 18(Continued)

	C	ategories o	f Importanc	e
Need	Not Important	Slightly Important	Important	Very Important
19. To feel accepted by hospital per- sonnel.		4	22	14
20. To have someone to talk to about the possibility that the patient might die.	2	5	14	19
21. To have comfortable furniture in the waiting room.	3	1	23	13
22. To be reassured that it is all right to leave the hospital for a while.	5	4	12	19
23. To know about the various types of staff taking care of the patient.	2	4	21	13
24. To know what type of staff can give them certain kinds of information.	· · 1	3	32	4
25. To have the waiting room near the patient.	6	4	21	9
26. To have a place to be alone while at the hospital.	8	1	21	10
27. To have friends nearby for support.	<b>3</b>	7	26	4

TABLE 18 (Continued)

-		· 0	ategories o	f Importance	e
	Need	Not Important	Slightly Important	Important	Very Important
28.	To have direction from the staff as to what is expected of them while at the patient's bedside.		9	19	7
29.	To be told about people in the hospital who could help them.	4	12	21	3
30.	To talk to someone about their feelings.	9	10	14	7
31.	To do some of the physical care for the patient.	17	4	13	6 ~
32.	To talk to the same nurses every day about the patient's condition.	-12 /	<b>13</b>	12	3
33.	To have another person with them while they visit the patient at the bed-side.	16	4	18	2
	To have a telephone nearby where they are waiting.	8	2 <b>2</b>	7	3
35.	To have good food available to them while at the hospital.	12	<b>15</b> /	10	3
36.	To be alone.	19	8	8	5

TABLE 18 (Continued)

		Categories o	of Importance	:0
Need	Not Important	Slightly Important	Important	Very Important
37. To have a bathroom near the waiting room.	22	10	. 4	4
38. To be told about chaplain services.	26	9	3	2
39. To have someone concerned about their health.	25	12	2	1
40. To have someone encourage them to cry.	38		1	1
			,	/

TABLE 19

RANKING OF NEEDS FROM MOST IMPORTANT TO LEAST IMPORTANT

BY FREQUENCY OF RESPONSES FROM ICU NORSES (n=31)

		C	ategories o	f Importanc	e
1.	Need	Not Important	Slightly Important	Important	Very
1.	To have their questions answered honestly.			2	29
2.	To feel that hospital personnel care about the patient.			4	27
3.	To have explanations given in terms that they can understand.			9	22
4.	To know that they would be called at home if there were any changes in the patient's condition.			10	21
5.	To talk to someone about the possibility that the patient might die.			12	19
6.	To be told how the patient is going to be treated medically.		2	10	19
7.	To know why things are being done for the patient.		3	10	18
8.	To have reassurance that the best possible care is being given to the patient.			14	17
9.	To receive information about the patient's condition at least once a day.		1	13	17

TABLE 19 (Continued)

		, . c	ategories o	of Importance	e .
	Need	Not Important	Slightly Important	Important	Very Important
10.	To talk to someone about their feelings.		3	10	18
11.	To know the patient's chance of becoming well.			16	15
12.	To feel that there is hope.		j j	16	15
13.	To have someone explain the sound and equipment in the intensive care unit before they visit for the first time.	<del>-</del>		14	16
14.	To be told exactly what is being done for the patient.		2	14	15
15.	To have a place to be alone while at the hospital.		2	16	13
16.	To be told about people in the hospital who could help them.		3	15	13
17.	To have specific facts concerning the patient's progress.		4	14 -	13 "
18.	To be reassured that it is all right to leave the hospital for a while.		7	8	16
19.	To see the patient frequently.		1	21	9

TABLE 19 (Continued)

	_ c	ategories o	f Importanc	e
Need	Not Important	Slightly Important	Important	Very important
20. To have the waiting room near the patient.	2	2	13	14
21. To have a telephone nearby where they are waiting.		7	10	14
22. To be told about transfer plans when they are being made.		5	14	12
23. To be alone.	- 2	4	14	11
24. To talk to the doctor at least once a day.	*3	3	14	11
25. To have friends near- by for support.	2	2	19	8 ,
26. To feel accepted by hospital personnel.		4	21	6 .
27. To have direction from the staff as to what is expected of them when they are at the patient's bedside.	1	7	··14	9
28. To know about the various types of staff taking care of the patient.	1 1	5	18	7
29.To know what type of staff can give them certain kinds of information.	2	5	18	6
30. To be told about chaplain services.		7	20	4
			,	

TABLE 19 (Continued)

		C	ategories o	f Importanc	e
-	Need	Not Important	Slightly Important	Important	Very Important
31.	To have comfortable furniture in the waiting room.	2 .	13	11	7
32.	To be able to visit whenever they want.	1	8	19	3
33.	To have someone concerned about their health.	2	6	21	2
34.	To have a bathroom near the waiting room.	4	7	14	6
35.	To have someone encourage them to cry.	2	14	12	3
36.	To have good food easily available to them while at the hospital.	6	10	11	4
37.	To do some of the physical care for the patient.	2	16	12	1
38.	To have a specific person at the hospital to call when they cannot be there.	13	7	9	2
39.	To talk to the same nurses every day about the patient's condition.	12	8	11	
40.	To have another person with them while they visit the patient.	12	13	6	

TABLE 20 FREQUENCY OF RESPONSES FROM FAMILY MEMBERS IN RELATION TO WHO MET THE NEEDS

Nurse Chaplain Doctor Relative Friend Vis personnel.  2. To have their questions answered honestly.  3. To be able to visit whenever they want.  4. To have a place to be alone while at the hospital who could help them.  6. To have a specific person at the hospital to call when they cannot be there.  7. To be told about how their family member is going to be treated medically.			*:			Categories <sup>a</sup>			
To feel accepted by hospital 40 2 15 personnel.  To have their questions 38 29 7 To have able to visit whenever 31 they want.  To be able to visit whenever 31 To have a place to be alone while at the hospital.  To be told about people in 32 3 To be told about people in 32 To have a specific person 36 at the hospital to call when they cannot be there.  To be told about how their 29		Need	Nurse	Chaplain	Doctor	Relative	Friend	Other Visitor	Other
To have their questions answered honestly.  To be able to visit whenever sit whenever they want.  To have a place to be alone while at the hospital.  To be told about people in sit he hospital who could help them.  To have a specific person at the hospital to call when they cannot be there.  To be told about how their sit he hospital to call when they cannot be there.  To be told about how their sit he hospital to call when they cannot be there.	1	To feel accepted by hospital personnel.	017	2	15				
To be able to visit whenever 31 they want.  To have a place to be alone while at the hospital.  To be told about people in the hospital who could help them.  To have a specific person at the hospital to call when they cannot be there.  To be told about how their could when they cannot be there.  To be told about how their soing to be treated medically.		To have their questions answered honestly.	38		29		*		
To have a place to be alone while at the hospital.  To be told about people in the hospital who could help them.  To have a specific person at the hospital to call when they cannot be there.  To be told about how their to be told about how their at family member is going to be treated medically.		To be able to visit whenever they want.	<u>~</u>			·	,		
To be told about people in 32		To have a place to be alone while at the hospital.							
To have a specific person 36 at the hospital to call when they cannot be there.  To be told about how their 29 family member is going to be treated medically.	,	To be told about people in the hospital who could help them.	32		m			M	
their 29 g to		To have a specific person at the hospital to call when they cannot be there.	36					E	
		To be told about how their family member is going to be treated medically.	29		34			*	

TABLE 20(Continued)

				Categories <sup>a</sup>				
Need	Nurse	Chaplain	Doctor	Relative	Friend	Other Visitor	0ther	
8. To have a telephone nearby where they are waiting.							38	
<ol> <li>To have good food easily available to them while at the hospital.</li> </ol>			•	·			34	
<pre>10. To feel that hospital per- sonnel care about their family member.</pre>	38	7	21					
11. To have the waiting room near the family member.							39	
12. To be told exactly what is being done for their family member.	38		61					
13. To be alone.							, .	
<pre>14. To be told about chaplain services</pre>	<b>©</b>	m	· ·					
15. To feel that there is hope.	<b>%</b>	7	33	7	5	<b>.</b>	7	
			:				_	

TABLE 20(Continued)

Lo know why things are being done for their family member; 10 have someone about the possibility that their feelings.  20 To talk to someone about the passibility that their feelings.  21 To have direction from the staff as to what is expected of them when they are at their family member's bedside.						<i>x</i>			
ng 37 , 19 Friend Visitor ng er. 36 2 2 5 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6					C	ategories <sup>a</sup>	4		
ng 37 , 19  e 2 2  ime. 20 3 21 5  die. 10 3 18 15 4  ide.		Need	Nurse	Chaplain	Doctor	Relative	Friend	Other Visitor	0ther
36 2 e 27 ime. 20 3 21 5 die. 10 3 18 15 4 ide.	. 16.	. To know why things are being done for their family member.	37		61 ,		·		
ime. 20 3 21 5 die. 10 3 18 15 4 ide.	17.	. To be told about transfer plans when they are being made.	36		7				,
die. 20 3 21 5 4 4 16 16. 15 4 15 4 16.	18.		27						
ed 32 44 ide.	19.	. To have someone to talk to about the possibility that their family member might die.	20	<b>m</b>	21	ıv			
ed 32 ide.	20.	. To talk to someone about their feelings.	0	m		<b>&amp;</b>	15	4	a .
	21.		33			•			•

TABLE 20(Continued)

					Categories <sup>a</sup>			
	Need	Nurse	Chaplain	Doctor	Relative	Friend	Other Visitor	Other
22.	. To know about the various types of staff taking care of their family member.	35		4				
23.	23. To see their family member frequently.	30	,			<i>;</i>		<u>م</u> :
24.	24. To have specific facts concerning their family member's progress.	29	v	27			,	
25.	25. To be involved with the physical care of the family member.	12				•	c	
26.	26. To have friends nearby for support.				'n	٣		
27.	27. To talk to the doctor at least once a day.			∞			C	
28.	. To have a bathroom near the waiting room.			`				39
		-		-	_	_	<u> </u>	_

TABLE 20(Continued)

			3	Categories <sup>a</sup>			
Need	Nurse	Chaplain	Doctor	Relative	Friend	Other Visitor	0ther
29. To be reassured that it is all right to leave the hospital for a while.	36		٣				
30. To have explanations given in terms that they can understand.	38	. · .	24				
31. To have reassurance that the best possible care is being given to their family member.	34	m	61	<b>8</b> 1	22	61	
32. To know what type of staff can given them certain kinds of information.	33		m			7	
33. To have comfortable furniture in the waiting room.							.a
34. To have someone concerned about their health.	7			22	82		
35. To know their family member's chances of becoming well.	24	,	30				·
		_					:

TABLE 20(Continued)

	5				Categories <sup>a</sup>			
	Need	Nurse	Chaplain	Doctor	Relative	Friend	Other Visitor	0ther
36	36. To know that they would be called at home if there were any changes in their family member's condition.	35						
37.	37. To talk to the same nurses every day about their fami- ly member's condition.	=						3
38.	38. To have someone to encourage them to cry.	_			m	7	:	
39.	39. To receive information about their family members' condition at least once a day.	35	×3	m		\/		
40.	40. To have another person with them while they visit their family member at the bed- side.	m	/		21			

aNumbers in each column depict absolute frequencies.